Title	MuMo : designing an online-offline cooperative activity for distanced children
Sub Title	
Author	西脇, 由希子(Nishiwaki, Yukiko)
	大川, 恵子(Okawa, Keiko)
Publisher	慶應義塾大学大学院メディアデザイン研究科
Publication year	2022
Jtitle	
JaLC DOI	
Abstract	
Notes	修士学位論文. 2022年度メディアデザイン学 第939号
Genre	Thesis or Dissertation
URL	https://koara.lib.keio.ac.jp/xoonips/modules/xoonips/detail.php?koara_id=KO40001001-00002022-0939

慶應義塾大学学術情報リポジトリ(KOARA)に掲載されているコンテンツの著作権は、それぞれの著作者、学会または出版社/発行者に帰属し、その権利は著作権法によって 保護されています。引用にあたっては、著作権法を遵守してご利用ください。

The copyrights of content available on the KeiO Associated Repository of Academic resources (KOARA) belong to the respective authors, academic societies, or publishers/issuers, and these rights are protected by the Japanese Copyright Act. When quoting the content, please follow the Japanese copyright act.

Master's Thesis Academic Year 2022

MuMo: Designing an Online-Offline Cooperative Activity for Distanced Children



Keio University Graduate School of Media Design

Yukiko Nishiwaki

A Master's Thesis

submitted to Keio University Graduate School of Media Design in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Media Design

Yukiko Nishiwaki

Master's Thesis Advisory Committee:	
Professor Keiko Okawa	(Main Research Supervisor)
Project Senior Assistant Professor	
Yun Suen Pai	(Sub Research Supervisor)
Master's Thesis Review Committee:	
Professor Keiko Okawa	(Chair)
Project Senior Assistant Professor	
Yun Suen Pai	(Co-Reviewer)
Professor Nanako Ishido	(Co-Reviewer)

Abstract of Master's Thesis of Academic Year 2022

MuMo:

Designing an Online-Offline Cooperative Activity for Distanced Children

Category: Design

Summary

We are living in an era of unprecedented changes as ICT is widely utilized in our lives and IoT/AI technologies develop. Moreover, it goes without saying that the COVID-19 pandemic is helping to push this forward. As more people become remotely and globally connected online, new skill sets, including collaboration, which will be essential for the next generation of children, are now in the spotlight.

This paper addresses the design of cooperative play for children at a distance, by the name of *MuMo*. Two kids will be roleplaying as creators to co-create a picture together, using their own monsters that they each create. They will asynchronously go through five activities using physical playing kits and online platforms. The three design concepts are; "co-creation", "embracing diversity" and "tangible artifacts".

The result of a user test showed that children played collaboratively and it implied that physical artifacts play an important role for their creativity. However, there were improvements to increase the sense of togetherness and to consider how to convey the cultural aspects to their friends that they reflected on their work. The technical challenges of the online platform were also identified.

Keywords:

design, long-distance communication, cooperative play, collaboration, early childhood

> Keio University Graduate School of Media Design Yukiko Nishiwaki

Contents

A	cknov	wledge	ements	viii
1	Intr	oducti	ion	1
	1.1.	Learn	ing Paradigms in 21st Century	1
	1.2.	Contr	ibution and Concept of This Research	2
	1.3.	Thesis	Structure	3
2	Lite	erature	e Review	5
	2.1.	Coope	erative Play	5
		2.1.1	Significance of Play	5
		2.1.2	What is Cooperative Play?	6
		2.1.3	Cooperation or Collaboration	7
	2.2.	Online	e Collaboration	8
		2.2.1	Computers and Children	8
		2.2.2	Use Contexts of Online Collaboration	9
		2.2.3	Cross-cultural Learning	11
		2.2.4	Collaboration in XR	12
	2.3.	Physic	cal Artifacts in Play	13
		2.3.1	Touch Experiences and Children's Development	13
		2.3.2	TUI	14
	2.4.	Summ	nary	15
3	Des	ign		16
	3.1.	Initial	Design Approach	16
		3.1.1	Phase 1: Distance Play in a Same Space	16
		3.1.2	Phase 2: Co-creating a Story in a Real-time Online Setting	19
	3.2.	Design	n Process	23

		3.2.1	Monster Pieces	24			
		3.2.2	Activities	27			
		3.2.3	Playing Kit Box	29			
	3.3.	Design	Artifact	30			
		3.3.1	Introduction	30			
		3.3.2	Plot	30			
		3.3.3	Concept	31			
		3.3.4	Target Audience	31			
		3.3.5	Playing Environment and Platforms	32			
		3.3.6	Playing Kit	32			
		3.3.7	Online Studio	35			
		3.3.8	VR Museum	36			
		3.3.9	Activities	38			
		3.3.10	Logo	43			
4	Vali	Validation					
	4.1.	Metho	d of Inquiry	45			
		4.1.1	Purpose	45			
		4.1.2	Partcipants	45			
		4.1.3	Settings	46			
		4.1.4	Procedure	46			
		4.1.5	Data Collection and Evaluation Method	47			
	4.2.	Result	s	50			
	4.3.	Discus	sion \ldots	56			
		4.3.1	Concepts	56			
		4.3.2	Platforms	58			
		4.3.3	Activities	59			
		4.3.4	Limitations	60			
5	Con	clusio	n and Future Work	61			
	5.1.	Conclu	ision	61			
	5.2.	Future	Work	62			
		5.2.1	Improvements	62			
		5.2.2	Extensibility	63			

References		64	
Appendices			
А.	Post-Test Questionnaire (Activity 1)	70	
В.	Results of Video Recordings	72	
С.	Results of Questionnaires	78	
D.	Results of Interviews	79	

List of Figures

3.1	Fieldwork at Ohno Kindergarten
3.2	Prototype (Phase 1)
3.3	User Test Using the Prototype
3.4	Testing Environments
3.5	A Child on a Haptic Device
3.6	Co-creating a Story with Tangible Pieces
3.7	A Screenshot Photo of an App Sago Mini Monsters
3.8	Photos Taken at American Museum of Natural History 25
3.9	An Early Sketch of Monster Pieces
3.10	An Early Stage of Monster Pieces
3.11	Testing Out Different Colors
3.12	MuMo Pilot Test
3.13	The Outcome of MuMo Pilot Test
3.14	Process of Designing the Box
3.15	Playing Kit (assembled) 33
3.16	Playing Kit (before assembling)
3.17	Nets of the Cardboard Box Design
3.18	Instruction Booklet (before being folded)
3.19	Monster Pieces
3.20	Online Studio
3.21	VR Museum
3.22	How It Works
3.23	An Example Outcome of Activity 2
3.24	An Example Outcome of Activity 3
3.25	An Example Outcome of Activity 4
3.26	Logo Design Process
3.27	Logo

4.1	T's Reaction when He Opened the Playing Kit	50
4.2	S's Reaction when He Opened the Playing Kit	51
4.3	T Playing Activity 1 (left) and His Final Outcome (right)	52
4.4	S Playing Activity 1 (left) and His Final Outcome (right)	52
4.5	T Explaining His Monster's Personality (left) and His Final Out-	50
1.0	$\operatorname{come}(\operatorname{right})$	53
4.6	S Explaining His Monster's Ability (left) and His Final Outcome	-
	(right)	53
4.7	T Listening to R Explaining about S's Monsters (left) and His	
	Final Outcome (right)	54
4.8	S Asking Questions to T About Monsters (left) and His Final	
	Outcome (right)	54
4.9	T and S Playing Activity 4 (top) and Their Final Work (bottom)	55
4.10	T and S Playing Activity 5	56
A.1	Post-Test Questionnaire- Page 1 of 2	70
A.2	Post-Test Questionnaire- Page 2 of 2	71
B.1	Video Recording- Opening the Playing Kit	72
B.2	Video Recording- Activity 1	73
B.3	Video Recording- Activity 2	74
B.4	Video Recording- Activity 3	75
B.5	Video Recording- Activity 4	76
B.6	Video Recording- Activity 5	77
C.1	Results of Questionnaires	78
D.1	Pre-Test Interview	79
D.2	Post-Test Interview with R \ldots	80
D.3	Post-Test Interview with Y	81

List of Tables

4.1	Validation Items for Each Activity	48
4.2	Checklist for Cooperative Play	49
4.3	Checklist for Creativity	49

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Professor Keiko Okawa, for the continuous support throughout my whole journey of this research project. Thanks to her guidance, I was able to pursue my interests, carry out my research and write this thesis. I would like to thank her for the sound advice she gave me when I needed it, and for her patience and sincerity in helping me.

My sincere thanks also goes to Project Senior Assistant Professor Yun Suen Pai, for his insightful comments and suggestions from the very early stage.

I would like to thank all of the parents, family members, teachers and children who have participated in this research. Special thanks to Mr. Shinta Matsufuji, for his cooperation over a long period of time. It was a precious experience that he gave me an opportunity to do fieldwork at a kindergarten.

I thank Shun Arima, Mina Shibasaki and Leandro Navarro Hundzinski, for providing technical knowledge and helping me with designing experiments.

I would also like to thank G-edu members, especially those from the September 2020 batch, Jiayi Lu, Nguyen Anh Ha Linh, and Misaki Kikuchi, for keeping up the motivation and having had the function for all these 2 years.

Thanks to all the people who I met throughout my GID journey, for stimulating discussions and all of their eye-opening comments. I'm also grateful to have the staff members at Pratt Institute who were very helpful regarding the production of MuMo.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family for supporting me on the path I have decided to take.

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1. Learning Paradigms in 21st Century

In today's 21st century, we are in the "age of great change" where social and economic structures are changing drastically on a daily basis due to the advance of ICT. Looking back at history, the first industrial revolution, which began in the late 18th century and was followed by the second industrial revolution from the end of the 19th century to the beginning of the 20th century, was a period of mass production. During this period, the key skills needed for most workers were "knowing a trade, following directions, getting along with others, working hard, and being professional—efficient, prompt, honest, and fair (K-12 Thoughtful Learning 2015)." However, the way people worked started to change as we entered the third industrial revolution that occurred in the mid to late 20th century. This was when the internet emerged. In the fourth industrial revolution, we will see even more use of automation with the development of IoT and AI technologies. It is also predicted that "we will experience the biggest job transition in history (IBC Colorado 2020)." We are required to have skills to respond flexibly to this rapidly changing age, and this has led to changes in education guidelines. The Partnership for 21st Century Skills lists a set of abilities that are required for students in the information age. They are learning skills, literacy skills, and life skills (Battelle for Kids 2019). Learning skills are also called 4Cs, which are: critical thinking, creativity, collaboration and communication. These skills help children to work together, come up with solutions and succeed in school and at their future workplace.

Education has come to a turning point not only because we are in the fourth industrial revolution but also due to the impact of COVID-19 pandemic. According to Dr. Bridget Terry Long, Dean of the Harvard Graduate School of Education, the pandemic underscored what many educators already knew, which was "one-size-fits-all" does not work anymore, and what students need varies (Harvard Graduate School of Education 2021). When children learn from their home, it matters greatly about what is happening in their families and their environment they are situated in. This decentralization trend pushes forward for the growth of online education. A report conducted by Research and Markets in February of 2020 indicated that "by 2025, the online education market would be valued at about \$320 billion USD, representing a growth of 170% since 2019 (Interesting Engineering 2021)." Although the digital divide, a gap between people who have access to ICT and those who don't, is a current concern, it is estimated that "90% of the global population will have access to broadband internet services by 2050(Interesting Engineering 2021)". Hence, online education for each student will become mainstream in future education throughout the world.

As mentioned above, we will go through the age of drastic change accompanied by a new normal in education. Children will need new skill sets to prepare for these changes by utilizing the internet and emerging technologies. They will be more connected, collaborating and creating ideas with international networks and communities. In other words, they will need to become more responsible and active global citizens (Akkari and Maleq 2020). Educators, educational institutions and designers play an important role to empower children in such times and therefore need to adapt to new education systems to take a practical approach.

1.2. Contribution and Concept of This Research

This MuMo project proposes a design of an online-offline cooperative activity for physically distanced children. The aim is to prepare children to become global citizens by fostering their collaborative skill, which is one of the learning skills listed in 21st Century Skills. The research question is as follows;

"How might we design cooperative play for young children who are distanced from each other to help them prepare for the coming ages?"

The activity is played by two kids around age 5-7 who are at each home. They

will be using three platforms throughout the project: Playing Kit, Online Studio and VR (Virtual Reality) Museum. Playing Kit is a physical cardboard kit which comes with several paper-made activity items such as monster pieces. Playing Kit would be delivered to each household. Online Studio and VR Museum are both online platforms that they will access from their computers or tablets with the help from their guardians.

The whole activity consists of five activities. In Activity 1, they CREATE their own monsters using Playing Kit. In Activity 2, their guardians UPLOAD the photos of their monsters to Online Studio and they will SHARE their monsters to each other. Once they get to know each other's monsters, they INTERACT by giving comments and questions to each other in Activity 3. Activity 4 is CO-CREATING a drawing together, where they have their monsters as characters in the drawing. Finally, they will visit and ENJOY VR Museum where their drawing is exhibited.

There are three key ideas for the design concept: "co-creation", "tangible artifacts" and "embracing diversity". "Co-creating" one drawing together is categorized as cooperative play, where they work together with one goal in mind. The second key idea is "tangible artifacts". They play an important role in supporting cognitive processes. Physical objects also enhance their creativity. To "embrace diversity", it is designed with multicultural exchange in mind, with opportunities for exposure to different languages and the use of everyday objects in the activities.

1.3. Thesis Structure

This thesis is divided into five chapters. This introductory chapter will be followed by Chapter 2, where related literature and works will be discussed and the role of MuMo will be clarified. Topics include cooperative play, online collaboration and physical artifacts in play. Chapter 3 is about the design process. Firstly design processes of several activities and pilot tests that were implemented before MuMo will be discussed. Then the design process of MuMo itself will be described in detail. Chapter 4 addresses the validation of MuMo based on a user study in which target parents and children were asked to play MuMo. Results and discussion follow in the same chapter. Finally, Chapter 5 concludes the paper with a summary of the project and future work for the proposed design.

Chapter 2 Literature Review

2.1. Cooperative Play

2.1.1 Significance of Play

Play has been long recognized by early childhood educators throughout the world as an essential experience for children. Nonetheless, regarding its definition, Hewes mentioned that *"it is difficult to define precisely for the purposes of multidisciplinary scholarly research (Hewes 2006)"*. Rubin, Fein, and Vandenburg (1983) have listed six factors that characterize play based on previous play theory and research. They are:

- 1. intrinsically motivated behavior
- 2. attention to means rather than ends
- 3. organism dominance
- 4. non-literal and simulative behavior
- 5. active engagement of the participants
- 6. freedom from externally imposed rules

However, for the last distinction "freedom from externally imposed rules", authors stated that there are problems because "games-with-rules have been shown to be developmentally related to earlier play behavior". Other researchers such as Verenikina et al. (2003) characterized play as "spontaneous, self-initiated and self-regulated activity of young children, which is relatively risk free and not necessarily goal-oriented." These features are almost equivalent to the list of factors that Rubin, Fein, and Vandenburg stated, by excluding the last factor from the list. Therefore, this paper will characterize play as five characteristics listed above (1 to 5).

Although there is no viable definition of play among the world, contribution to children's developments are common understanding in much of theory and research. It helps children advance their cognitive, social and emotional development. Children acquire "the foundations of self-reflection and abstract thinking, develop complex communication and meta-communication skills, learn to manage their emotions and explore the roles and rules of functioning in adult society (Verenikina et al. 2003)". Unfortunately, many educational systems used to teach us that playing and learning are separate activities. Today, "learning through play" is an approach that is promoted by many early childhood programs.

The way children play has also changed over the past decades. Firstly, children have less time to focus on play because of the trend that they have more activities that they learn and practice from early childhood professionals. "Long uninterrupted blocks of time for children to play – by themselves and with peers, indoors and outdoors – are becoming increasingly rare (Hewes 2006)". Secondly, children are becoming digitally native, meaning that they use digital technology and it is a part of their lives. COVID-19 pandemic further pushed forward for children to use technology.

Furthermore, play can take many forms, stages and levels which has been proposed by play theorists. This will be discussed in detail in the latter section, especially focusing on "cooperative play".

2.1.2 What is Cooperative Play?

American sociologist Mildred Parten Newhall developed six levels of play regarding social engagement which is applicable to two to five year olds (Verenikina et al. 2003, Gudritz 2016). They are unoccupied (play), when an infant is performing random movements; independent/solitary play; onlooker play, when a child observes the play of other children; parallel play, when a child plays beside, rather than with, other children; associative play, when a child plays with other children without any common goal; and lastly cooperative play, when a child plays with others for a common purpose.

Cooperative play is said to be the final developmental stage of the six forms requiring higher levels of interaction among children. Drew has listed five key features of cooperative play (Drew 2020):

- 1. Social interaction: This includes assigning roles to one another, negotiating, working together for the good of the group. It helps children to know others' perspectives, learn from them, and incorporate ideas to improve their own thinking.
- 2. Shared goals: Children will take turns when they work together and can work on different aspects of a task and link them together in the end to achieve the goal. They will need group work skills such as negotiation, collaboration and positive communication.
- 3. Language use: Children get to practice language skills, both expressing their thoughts and understanding when others speak.
- 4. Self-regulation: Rather than working on their own tasks and doing whatever they want, children try to compromise, such as absorbing disappointment or waiting their turn.
- 5. Agreed rules: Co-agreement of rules will let children get together and agree upon how a game or an activity should be played.

Examples of cooperative play include working on an art project together, finishing puzzles with a group, acting characters in a play, relay races, and many other teamwork activities. Although it is usually said that cooperative play begins around the age of four, it is not the case for all children. Support from adults is also essential in this type of play especially until around the age of six (Muto 2013). Teachers' role is to set the basic structure and guide (not deciding) children to shared goals.

2.1.3 Cooperation or Collaboration

When it comes to group activities in education, cooperative learning and collaborative learning are two terms that are often used interchangeably. However, there are educators who emphasize a distinction between these two terms (Hord 1981, Oxford 1997). In general, those authors identify cooperative learning to be teacher centered and more structured, whereas collaborative learning to be student centered and less structured. Oxford had stated that the purpose is also different too. Cooperative learning enhances cognitive and social skills via a set of known techniques and working together to reach learning goals. Collaborative learning acculturates learners into knowledge communities.

Recent educators, on the other hand, argue that two terms should be treated as equivalent (Jacobs 2015, Jacobs and Ivone 2020). There are many similarities between them (Promethean Blog 2017), for example, they rely on active student participation rather than lecture-based learning, enhance participants' cognitive skills and team building skills, and embrace diversity among them. It is questionable to explain cooperative learning as a teacher centered activity because quite often, a student centric approach is seen during cooperative activities. Hence, the fact that they have a lot in common for their characteristics and much of the work uses them interchangeably, two terms would be used as synonyms in this paper.

2.2. Online Collaboration

2.2.1 Computers and Children

Many children today are digitally native, a generation in which living in an environment surrounded by digital devices is normal. According to UNICEF (United Nations Children's Fund), "Children and adolescents under 18 account for an estimated one in three internet users around the world (UNICEF 2017)". and Pew Research Center survey of US parents with 5-8 year old children in 2020 showed that children's engagement with a television, tablet computer, smartphone were 93%, 81%, and 59% respectively (Pew Research Center 2020). Child-Computer Interaction (CCI) is a discipline that studies the relationship between computer technology and children. J.C. Read defines CCI as "an area of scientific investigation that concerns the phenomena surrounding the interaction between children and computational and communication technologies (Read and Markopoulos 2013)". In recent years, there has been a change in perspectives about CCI, especially during the pandemic. Antle et al. identify changes of parents' perception as one of them (Antle and Frauenberger 2020). They said that "prior to the pandemic researchers recruiting for studies often experienced a feeling of reluctance from parents, caregivers and/or teachers to let children participate in interactive technology and/or digital media usage". However, since the pandemic, that thinking has changed, and parents and caretakers are moving in the direction that they believe it is desirable for children to participate in a variety of fields in order to develop digital literacy. Antle also stated that "This shift may present an opportunity for the CCI community to contribute beyond academia to engage with ongoing societal debates with more nuanced views on the purpose and nature of different interactions with digital technology." "Ongoing societal debates" here could refer to the impact of screen time on physical and mental health problems or the dangers of using social media (Viner et al. 2019). In response to this trend, we as designers and researchers, need to find ways to create a foundation for both parents and children to learn about digital technology, which is widely used in many aspects of life, and to develop the ability to respond to such technology.

2.2.2 Use Contexts of Online Collaboration

To this day, there are many online services and studies that connect geographically separated children or children and their families for collaborative activities. The uses are diverse, ranging from communication to entertainment to education.

One Space (Cohen et al. 2014) and WaaZam! (Hunter et al. 2014) are examples of communication between children or between parents and children. Both of these studies used a video conferencing tool that merged the video feeds of two remote places into the same virtual space. The purpose for One Space was to "promote fundamentally active forms of engaged, co-operative play", and WaaZam! added the aspect of "a creative studio and a rendering engine so users can build and interact together in worlds they construct" so that they can "support creative play and increase social engagement during video sessions of geographically separated families." Note that both studies were conducted with children aged 6 years and older. For younger children, there was a study by name of Pokaboo (Raffle et al. 2011). This was research about a network toy where "a child will press a button down to take their own photo, and their self-portrait will pop up on their partner's device." The result was that "it was used by the children more as a toy and less as a communication tool." In other words, the conclusion was that the focus was on the objects themselves, and that more investment was needed for remote collaborative play.

In the context of entertainment, video games such as Nintendo Switch and Minecraft are representative of online games for children. Nintendo Switch games such as Mario Party and Overcooked! are good examples that require multiple players to play cooperatively. Minecraft is a world composed of three-dimensional blocks, which players can assemble to build various objects and explore their structures. It is also possible to play with friends in multiplayer mode, another game in which cooperative play is key. Because of its flexibility, the game is increasingly being used not only for entertainment but also for educational purposes. One such example is a study by Walsh et al. (2016). They used the free and open source Minecraft clone, Minetest to develop a tool to support distributed co-design for children. As its potential, they mentioned that "this flexibility and accessibility from home enabled children who could not attend in-person sessions to continue to participate with the group."

Some online collaborations in education are based on community platforms. Scratch, a coding community for children, is a platform that allows children to modify other children's creations, and DIY, which is available in both app and website, has over 1,000 how-to videos, as well as a safe environment for children to interact with each other. In recent years, with the increase in online classes due to the pandemic, there have been many studies connecting school and home. Alonso-Campuzano et al. investigated collaborative behaviors through storytelling activities among 1st to 5th graders at home using existing online services (Alonso-Campuzano et al. 2021). Results suggest that online collaboration is possible, although some methodology adaptations were required for 1st and 2nd grade students.

However, most of the studies mentioned above target a minimum age of roughly 7 years old, and few of them have targeted preschoolers. While taking into account the impact on preschoolers as described in "2.2.1 Computers and Children", online activity development that allows preschoolers to engage in cooperative play is a possible and underdeveloped area.

Furthermore, when discussing online collaboration, it is necessary to understand the term Computer-supported Cooperative Work (CSCW). Schmidt and Bannon conceptualized it as "an endeavor to understand the nature and requirements of cooperative work with the objective of designing computer-based technologies for cooperative work arrangements (Schmidt et al. 1992)". In terms of technologies, it takes place in two dimensions, which are forms of cooperation and geographical nature (Walsh et al. 2016). The forms of cooperation describe whether the work is done synchronous, asynchronous, or mixed, in other words, whether the work is done at the same time or not. The geographical nature dimension is whether the participants are in the same place or not. Walsh stated that workspace awareness, trust development, and engagement are the three most important concepts to have in mind for research on the effects of CSCW communication mediums, since it is likely that CSCW conditions suffer from having those as compared to face-to-face work.

2.2.3 Cross-cultural Learning

Cross-cultural experiences that not only provide an opportunity to learn about different values, but also to reflect on one's own experiences and culture, have been offered in a variety of ways. There are educational materials such as picture books and music, while some schools partner with other schools in different regions to offer programs that allow students to correspond with pen pals. As people become more connected with the spread of the Internet, opportunities for collaboration among people of different backgrounds will continue to increase. Regarding the importance of children's cross-cultural collaborative experiences, Yang et al. (2014) claimed that "it has therefore become very important that current generation of students has acquired multi-cultural awareness and crosscultural collaborative skills before it embarks on to the work environment." They also mentioned that face-to-face would be the most effective way, but that only a limited number of people could have that experience, they sought ways to utilize online technologies for cross-cultural collaborative learning. Sharma et al. developed CityCompass, an "online virtual navigational application for conversational language learning" to find opportunities for inclusive collaboration between Indian and Finnish children (Sharma et al. 2019). Rötkönen et al. "connected ten learners from a Namibian and a Finnish school in virtual communications to co-design an interactive map game (Rötkönen et al. 2021)". For CityCompass, the average participant ages were 11-12 and the study was between children and researchers, not between children. The interactive map game was conducted with children in Grades 6 and 7, with ages ranging between 12 and 15 years. One existing service to experience other cultures is called One Globe Kids (Zuiderveld 2018), which offers educational content for kindergartens and schools, and their target age is 4-10 year olds. However, for safety reasons, there is no actual interaction between the children, and the educational material is based on photographs taken in advance. Therefore, globally collaborative one-on-one interactions with preschoolers are not well studied.

2.2.4 Collaboration in XR

Currently, when children play together online a video conference system is often used, but XR technology will be used more in the future. Vasilchenko et al. aims to connect XR, which they included Virtual Reality (VR), Augmented Reality (AR) and Mixed Reality (MR), and the learning/education community to explore "the challenges, opportunities and long-term research plans of XR technologies for collaborative learning and co-creation (Vasilchenko et al. 2020)." The previously mentioned study by Greg Walsh et al. is one such example (Walsh et al. 2016). The Share Table developed by Yarosh et al. (2009, 2013) is a "media space that supports synchronous interaction with children by augmenting video conferencing with a camera-projector system to allow for shared viewing of physical artifacts" and has been user tested in divorce households. Amazon Glow, which Amazon began selling to the public in 2022, could be said that it is the commercialized version of Share Table. With Amazon Glow, kids can "enjoy hands-on activities on Glow's projection mat, while adults join in the fun through an interactive video call on their tablet or smartphone (Amazon 2022)". Currently this is only available in the United States.

There are several points to be aware of when young children are using XR. In VR, most guidelines for head-mounted displays prohibit use by preschool children. Hence, although research such as *TALK ME THROUGH THIS!* and *Jackin head* uses VR to allow two players to cooperate with each other (Robles de Medina 2016, Komiyama et al. 2017), unfortunately neither of these games are accessible to young children due to the use of head-mounted displays. Vasilchenko et al. also point out the risks of XR use that "the frequent and prolonged exposure to XR environments could be harmful to our mental health, and lead to social isolation (Vasilchenko et al. 2020)".

However, the point here is that this is not to deny the use of XR. The advantage of using XR technology in a collaboration is that we can "have the potential to portray 3D spatial information, to exploit learners' natural behaviors, and to immerse them in the virtual learning world (Vasilchenko et al. 2020)". It is necessary to understand the concerns and incorporate them appropriately into children's cocreation opportunities.

2.3. Physical Artifacts in Play

2.3.1 Touch Experiences and Children's Development

In multiple disciplines, such as evolutionary biology and neurology, "the role of sensorimotor action in cognition is well established (Sylla et al. 2019)". Cornelia Elbrecht mentions how it plays an important role especially for children. According to her article, children can "develop normally without a sense of sight, sound, or smell. Yet without touch they grow up to be emotionally and socially dysfunctional (Elbrecht 2020)". Neurologist Wilson stated that "Our fingers and hands are highly active and important means of perception and exploration, representing an access to our life world which in some cases could not have been established by any other sense modality (R. Wilson 1998)". There is a strong connection between hand and brain function and without active touch experiences with our hands, children's cortex will not become active.

Sylla stated that "the role of tools, artifacts or objects in supporting cognitive processes is well established in education (Sylla et al. 2019)". She also mentioned how creativity has much to do with what tools and materials we have, and what we make of or with them. There are well-designed toys that focus on hands-on experience and child development. Rigamajig, a building kit designed by a toy designer Cas Holman, inspires "creativity, collaboration, problem-solving skills,

and STEM/STEAM learning through hands-on play" (Rigamajig 2022). KonneKt is designed for isolated children in hospitals to play with their friends or families. They will stand on each side of the window and use "a versatile set of shapes which can be attached to the window with suction cups and magnets (Jansweijer 2014)". This would not only allow them to enhance creativity but also helps "developing social skills such as cooperation, teamwork and negotiation". A graduate student from Royal College of Art designed Imaginary Language (Alessandra 2019). It is a set of basic geometric objects that can be combined in a various ways to foster children's creativity.

2.3.2 TUI

Hiroshi Ishii, the Jerome B. Wiesner Professor of Media Arts and Sciences at the MIT Media Laboratory, is recognized as a founder of Tangible User Interfaces (TUI) when he presented a research *Tangible Bits* in 1997 (Ishii and Ullmer 1997). Sylla et al. defined TUIs as "physical representations, materials or objects with embedded computational properties that allow interacting with and manipulating digital content. (Sylla et al. 2019)" They often involve children by designing "playful interactions focusing on learning, storytelling, dynamic systems, collaboration, or the learning of social skills among others (Catala et al. 2018)". TUI products for children which are already on the market include the Amazon Glow, which was mentioned in the previous section, and Osmo, which uses a tablet and a reflective mirror that attaches to the camera (Osmo 2014). Microsoft Research has also conducted a ProjectZanzibar, which was "a flexible mat that locates, uniquely identifies, and communicates with tangible objects placed on its surface, as well as senses a user's touch and hover gestures (Villar et al. 2018)". It is similar to Amazon Glow or Osmo in that objects placed on the mat are displayed on the screen, but instead of a camera, the mat itself has a built-in sensor that detects the movement of objects and hands. As suggested in the study by Fails et al. that "embedding technology in the physical world may be beneficial to young children (Fails et al. 2005)", applying TUI technology for children's education has a great potential. However, there is a lot of technical preparation as well as expense involved in terms of connecting each family with their children using TUI.

2.4. Summary

This chapter has discussed the importance of cooperative play for preschool children, the use of online collaboration in entertainment and learning, examples of the use of new technologies, and previous research on TUI combining online and physical activities. Among the various use contexts of online collaboration, this chapter focused on multi-cultural exchange, which is necessary for collaboration competence in 21st century skills, and described the significance of connecting and collaborating with people from other regions online. It revealed that globally collaborative one-on-one interactions for young children are not well studied. Furthermore, regarding XR, its potential can be expanded as a means of realizing global co-creation, while taking into consideration concerns about its use by young children. Past research has also suggested that TUIs contribute significantly to young children's play and learning, but their practical use is still difficult given their technical limitations and cost when implemented in each home. Many of the examples mentioned in the chapter are synchronous and there are few asynchronous efforts. This research then proposes to design cooperative play for young children, including those of preschool age, that can participate with their parents or caretakers from home. They will be physically distanced from each other, and play the activities asynchronously. From the perspective of simplicity of technical preparation and low expenses, instead of using TUIs, it incorporates both online and offline activities, and is designed to allow children to move seamlessly between those two environments. For the offline activities we make use of tangible artifacts which come with a kit. Online activities include the use of a shared platform, including a virtual space.

Chapter 3 Design

This research project was always motivated by the concept of "connecting young children at a distance" and several design processes were conducted prior to the start of the MuMo project. For each design process, it went through defining, ideating, prototyping, testing and redefining the design concept for the next step. Thus, all of the experiences and discoveries gained from these processes form the foundation of MuMo, and it is of great significance to record these initial approaches. This part describes the initial design approach that led to the MuMo project. It can be divided into two major phases, Phase 1 and Phase 2. Each phase would be discussed in the following sections.

3.1. Initial Design Approach

3.1.1 Phase 1: Distance Play in a Same Space

The COVID-19 pandemic had just begun across the world during this first phase. In Japan, attention was focused on measures that were proposed by the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare, to avoid the "Three Cs". "Three Cs" were "Closed spaces with poor ventilation," "Crowded spaces with many people nearby," and "Close-contact settings such as close-range conversations" (全国保育協議会 2020). It was a big challenge for many fields, including the field of childcare (Japanese Government 2020, ほいくる 2020). Many activities became individual tasks, which made it difficult to foster the cooperative skills that are fostered through relationships with friends. The aim for Phase 1 was to address this issue, and research on play for young children that fosters cooperativeness while maintaining distance. In Phase 1, an interview with teachers at a kindergarten, fieldwork and a test using a prototype were carried out.

Interview and Fieldwork

On November 12, 2020, an online interview was held with Mr. Shinta Matsufuji, a Vice Principal of Ohno Kindergarten (Akebono Gakuen School Corporation) about the reality and needs at the kindergarten during the pandemic. He said that it was still difficult to avoid the "Three Cs", and that something that can be played with at a distance is very much in demand at the site. As fieldwork, a balloon-carrying relay was held in the Ohno Kindergarten on November 17, 2020 (Figure 3.1). It was a game in which children competed against each other in teams; they worked in pairs, and the team that carried a balloon on a cloth the fastest won. This game was chosen because it allowed the children to keep their distance while carrying the balloons. The participants, 99 children aged 5-6, were divided into three classes and further into three teams. As a result, several items related to cooperation were observed, such as cheering and picking up a teammate's balloon. Regarding the distance among the children, it was found that although there was little contact while carrying the balloons, contact was inevitable while waiting and when passing the balloons to the next pair.



Figure 3.1 Fieldwork at Ohno Kindergarten

Test using a prototype

A prototype of a toy was designed based on three concepts: it maintains a physical distance of at least one meter, it is collaborative play among two children, and it is something that enhances creativity and intellectual development. The toy consists of two boards with six holes respectively, six strings, and six play cards(Figure 3.2). Based on a play card which is presented by the facilitator, two players work together to create a shape with six strings and a board in front of them. The test was conducted on November 15, 2020, with a 5-year-old boy and his father (Figure 3.3). The results showed that they were able to play at a certain distance from each other during the 20-minute play time, but for most of the time, they played at a distance of less than one meter. The possibility of fostering cooperativeness was also observed in the test.



Figure 3.2 Prototype (Phase 1)



Figure 3.3 User Test Using the Prototype

As a takeaway from Phase 1, it was confirmed that it was possible to "keep as much distance as possible" in both fieldwork and the user test, however, it was difficult to completely separate the children from each other. It was also necessary to reconsider whether a complete separation was really necessary between those in the same space. Rather than targeting the children in the same space, the possibility of a system that would allow children who are physically separated from each other to connect online and play together, thereby enhancing their cooperative skills, was further investigated afterwards.

3.1.2 Phase 2: Co-creating a Story in a Real-time Online Setting

While Phase 1 explored how cooperative skills can be fostered in the same place while maintaining distance, Phase 2 focused on how cooperativeness can be fostered among children who are actually in distant places. Online classes, which spread rapidly during the pandemic, have the advantage that anyone with an online environment can take classes, but at the same time, several issues were brought to light. One of them is that physical movement is restricted. This limitation is a major issue, especially for preschoolers, who are at a stage in their lives when they are gaining many skills through physical activity. Hence in Phase 2, the possibility was examined on designing activities that would allow children to stay at home, connect them online, and play with other children using their bodies. In the first prototype, a full-body activity using haptics was conducted, then redefined the research question based on the issues that emerged. Second prototype was then created and experimented.

First prototype using haptic feedback

For body movement activity among remote families, Hunter et al. designed WaaZam!, a video mediated communication system to "support creative play and increase social engagement during video sessions of geographically separated families" (Hunter et al. 2014). However, including this study, most were conducted with family members, and with children who were 6-12 years old, which was older than the target age for this project. Therefore, it was examined whether such activities could be implemented with the target age range and whether they would have the same effect. Assuming that the use of haptic devices as well as a synthesized video system would provide a greater sense of connectedness, the research question was: "How might we utilize haptic feedback in collaborative play for young children who are at a distance?"

In order to test this out, the author played remotely with a 5-year-old boy in two environments: one was using a conventional video conference system alone, and the other one was designed with haptic feedback and a video conference system that a kid and the author would be composed into the same screen (Figure 3.4). For the latter environment, it was a storytelling activity in which participants went on an adventure together, by author changing virtual backgrounds. For haptic feedback, *Buruburu cushion* was used, a haptic device which was used only on the child side (Shibasaki et al. 2020). The child would stand on the cushion, and it would vibrate when the author made a loud voice or created a noisy sound with stomping (Figure 3.5). The test was conducted at the author's home on June 5, 2021. As a result, it turned out that there was little difference in play involvement (amount of speech, concentration) between the two environments. Moreover, the child was not so much interested in haptic feedback. It could be estimated that children may need more complex feedback and need more room to be able to customize their play by themselves. The child also had problems grasping space, such as misinterpreting something on the virtual background as being in front of him. Furthermore, it may have been obvious, but by actually testing in the house, it revealed that a large space is needed to capture the whole body.



Figure 3.4 Testing Environments



Figure 3.5 A Child on a Haptic Device

Second Prototype using tangible pieces

As takeaways from the first prototype, it was necessary to consider a design that did not involve haptics using the entire body, in terms of the target age and the fact that it would be played at home. Although it was not a full-body haptic game, play with tangible objects using their hands was considered for the next prototype. "Cultural diversity" was also brought up as a concept, for that cooperative play helps children foster inclusivity and that the advantage of being online is that "any children, anywhere, can connect with any other children." I refined my research question as follows: "How might we design cooperative play for young children who are distanced from each other to develop their skills that can embrace their diversity through social interactions?"

Based on this research question, a second prototype was created that allowed two distanced children to co-create a story together with physical toy pieces. Technically, webcams on each side captured the pieces in real time, and the two children's work were combined on a single screen to complete a picture together. The screen can then be viewed in real time by two people on their respective computer screens. The background of the picture changed several times as the story went on. The content included things that gave a sense of cultural exchange, for example, making a feast on a plate. Two children, ages 4 and 5, participated in the user test (Figure 3.6). Since a remote environment was unable to arrange, the two children played together in the same space, avoiding contact as much as possible. They were cousins and the whole activity was facilitated by the author. As a result, there was little interaction among them because they concentrated on their own work most of the time. Furthermore, the 4-year-old child took time to choose the toy pieces by himself. Since it was the first time that the author met him, he might have been nervous or shy in front of someone he didn't know. From these findings, there was a necessity to reconsider the real-time interaction among two young children. It was also confirmed that there was cultural exchange, such as finding and sharing each other's favorite foods.



Figure 3.6 Co-creating a Story with Tangible Pieces

3.2. Design Process

The main findings and takeaways from several initial design approaches based on the concept of "cooperative play between young children at a distance" are as follows:

- It is targeted for two young children who are at home and are physically separated from each other.
- The design of the activity is not limited to the online environment, but also allows for hands-on play.
- The content should be designed so that children around the world can share and enjoy cultural diversity by taking advantage of the online environment.
- Choose asynchronous rather than synchronous implementation methods, taking into account time differences and target age groups.

The *MuMo* design process was developed with these considerations in mind. This section describes why monsters were chosen as the subject matter for the content, the process of creating the monster pieces, the design process of the activity itself, and the process of creating the Playing Kit box.

3.2.1 Monster Pieces

The two prototypes created in Phase 2 of the initial design approach were both about creating a story, but they already had a plot and lacked freedom. This limited children's creativity. Therefore, this time, the design was intended to allow the children to create their own characters and decide what two children would like to create together. At the same time, however, cooperative play has a purpose and is structured to some extent, thus too much freedom would not fit the purpose of this project. A balance between open-ended and structured play was very important. One idea that came up during the ideation process was using monsters as a subject. The word "monster" has different meanings and origins in different countries and cultures, but in a broad sense, it is a universal language in that it refers to "an imaginary creature". "Monster" does not have a fixed form, and each person can freely create his or her own monster. It was a suitable subject for a balance between structured and open-ended play.

Wanting to allow children to actually use tangible objects to create with their hands, monster pieces were designed so that they can freely combine these parts to create their own monsters. Several documents and apps were referred to in order to design the monster pieces. Especially the book written by Sandra Lawrence *The Atlas of Monsters: Mythical Creatures from Around the World (Lawrence 2019)* and a monster maker app *Sago Mini Monsters* (Figure 3.7) were very helpful during the design process. The author also visited the American Museum of Natural History and got some ideas seeing the cultural costumes and ornaments that were exhibited (Figure 3.8). Figure 3.9 is an early sketch of monster pieces. When designing the pieces, it was kept in mind that each piece looks like various body parts depending on how you look at it, rather than one particular body part so that children can think more freely.



(Source: Sago Mini Monsters (Sago Sago Toys Inc 2014))





Figure 3.8 Photos Taken at American Museum of Natural History



Figure 3.9 An Early Sketch of Monster Pieces
Initially, the idea was to create a monster using monster pieces only (Figure 3.10). However, it was discovered that by combining monster pieces with everyday objects, it could also incorporate an element of "cultural diversity". The work can naturally incorporate things that children use and see in their daily lives. The other child who sees the work can compare it with what he or she is actually using, discover differences and similarities, and hence perceive cultural elements. The colors were chosen to blend in with everyday objects rather than to be too bright (Figure 3.11). See "3.3.6 Playing Kit" for the final design of all the pieces.



Figure 3.10 An Early Stage of Monster Pieces



Figure 3.11 Testing Out Different Colors

3.2.2 Activities

Cooperative play is a kind of play in which children work toward a common goal, and thus the idea was to design an activity with the goal of "completing a picture together that involves monsters that each of the children had created." It was also necessary to create a scenario that explained why they were doing it, rather than just telling them to do it. A role-playing format was adopted, and at the ideation stage, scenarios such as each child becoming an astronaut to explore a monster planet or a researcher to conduct experiments on monsters were considered, but in the end, considering that the setting would not be too complicated, it was decided to adopt a scenario in which each child would work together as creators to create a drawing to be displayed in a museum.

The activity was designed to progress through several steps before reaching the goal; First, there is the "creation" step where the monsters are created, followed by the "sharing" step where the monsters are shared with a friend online, the "interacting" step where friends ask questions and comment on each other's monsters after sharing, the "understanding" step where they learn more about each other's monsters by customizing them, then there is the "co-creation" step, in which the drawing is completed, and finally, the "showing" step where the final work is exhibited. The author and a friend tested whether this step flow was appropriate and what kind of work could be created by combining the monster pieces with everyday objects. Since the test was conducted at the same time in the same place together, it was different from the "playing remotely and non-simultaneously" context, but communication took place only on the computer and there was little conversation. Figure 3.12 shows how the test went on and the outcomes of the activities are shown in Figure 3.13.



Figure 3.12 MuMo Pilot Test



Figure 3.13 The Outcome of MuMo Pilot Test $% \left({{{\rm{T}}_{{\rm{B}}}} \right)$

As a result, feedback from the author's friend was that the flow of the steps was easy to understand with clear objectives, and that it was fun when she was thinking which monster pieces to attach with the groceries. One of the improvements was that since there was only one piece for each shape, there were not enough pieces when she wanted to make it symmetrical. She also mentioned that although there was not much talking, facial expressions played an important role during the test. Hence it could be assumed that it would be less fun if children couldn't see each other's faces. Also, as the author, the activity steps were too many considering that this would be a non-simultaneous activity. For these reasons, the design was revised to prepare most of the monster pieces in two pieces, to post each other's photos on the online platform, and to reduce the number of activity steps by combining the "understanding" and "co-creation" steps. The final activity design is described in "3.3.9 Activities".

As a method for communicating each step to children, Sago Mini Box was a good reference. It is a monthly make-and-play subscription that brings creative play for 3-5 year olds (Sago Mini 2013). Each month the theme is different and an activity is provided for each envelope. Inside the envelope is a letter, designed to allow children to pretend to be a character in the role-play setting. In this MuMoactivity design, the Playing Kit also has envelopes that contain letters from the museum staff with the details of the request for each activity. The final envelope and letter designs are shown in "3.3.6 Playing Kit".

3.2.3 Playing Kit Box

The Playing Kit, which contains the monster pieces and activity envelopes, is also based on the Sago Mini Box. The container of Sago Mini box is a playable kit in itself (e.g., when the theme is cooking, the box itself turns into a stove) and it is also made of recyclable materials. Getting an idea from this existing service, the Playing Kit for MuMo was designed using cardboards and was designed to resemble a desk that would be used by a creator, in other words, the child. Figure 3.14 shows the process of making the box.



Figure 3.14 Process of Designing the Box

3.3. Design Artifact

3.3.1 Introduction

MuMo is an online-offline activity that allows two children to play together who are physically distanced from each other. Two kids will be roleplaying as creators who participate in MuMo (Museum of Monsters) project. They will go through five activities. They will first create their own monsters individually using a physical playing kit (Activity 1), share them and interact with each other online (Activity 2 & 3), and finally work together to create a drawing with their monsters as characters that appear in the drawing (Activity 4). Their drawing will eventually be exhibited in a virtual museum (Activity 5).

3.3.2 Plot

Welcome to *MuMo*! You are joining this *MuMo* project as a creator. You will have a partner, *MuMo* friend, who you are collaborating with. *MuMo* friend will be someone around your age, who lives in a different place. You two will each make your own monster and then create one drawing together online with those monsters appearing in the drawing. Your monster story artwork will then be exhibited in the virtual museum. Now, let's start your creative and collaborative

journey!

3.3.3 Concept

MuMo has three concepts: co-creation, embracing diversity, and tangible artifacts. *MuMo* is cooperative play, and the goal of the two children is to create a picture together, in other words "co-create" a picture, using their own monsters. It is also designed to give children a sense of playing together through the *MuMo* platforms, albeit remotely. The second concept, "embracing diversity," focuses especially on cultural diversity. It is designed with multicultural exchange in mind, with opportunities for exposure to each other's languages and the use of everyday objects in the activities. The third concept, "tangible artifacts" is also important for young children since the role of tools, artifacts or objects in supporting cognitive processes is well established in education. It is also known for enhancing their creativity.

3.3.4 Target Audience

This activity is designed for children with the age range of 5 to 7 year olds. There are mainly three reasons for the target age. Firstly, as stated in "2.2.2 Use Contexts of Online Collaboration", there are few research studies about online collaboration among this age group. Secondly, many studies have shown the importance of multicultural education in early childhood (Abdullah 2009). Lastly, as stated in section "2.1.2 What is cooperative play?", cooperative play begins around the age of four, which is possible and important for children around this age group to interact with others. It is also important to note that their guardians are required to have basic computer literacy skills since the activity uses online tools. Even if it was their first time to use some of those tools, it is designed so that they can participate in this activity if they have the basic skills to operate them with explanation beforehand. The tools include: communication softwares (zoom, LINE), interactive platforms (Miro, hubs mozilla) and a cloud platform (Google Drive). The role and use of each online tool will be explained in the latter section and chapter.

3.3.5 Playing Environment and Platforms

This activity is designed for a child and his or her guardian to play at their home. They will need access to the internet and a digital device, such as a computer or a tablet, to join the activity. Smartphones are not suitable in terms of an experience of a child and a guardian looking at the screen together, operability of digital drawing, and smoother VR experience. Another physical tool that they will need is a Playing Kit, one of the three platforms for this *MuMo* activity. Other two platforms are Online Studio and VR Museum. Each platform will be described in detail in the following sections.

3.3.6 Playing Kit

It is a $12.2 \ge 9.0 \ge 2.6$ inches cardboard box with several paper-made activity items inside. Playing Kit will be sent to each home of the two children. As you can see from Figure 3.15, the cardboard packaging itself becomes a playing tool. Once the child opens the box, they will find out that it resembles a desk with two drawers. It was designed for them to immerse themselves as creators with their own desks. Monster pieces are equipped in the left drawer and four activity envelopes in the right.

The box itself is made out of 5/32 inch thickness of corrugated cardboard and consists of four parts: the outer box, a separating board and two drawers (Figure 3.16). With sustainability in mind, the three-dimensional structure is formed by folding instead of using glues or screws (Figure 3.17). This mono-material feature makes it easier to recycle the kit and it would also contribute to the quality of the recycled material. Another sustainable aspect is that it avoids excessive use of materials by having the function of packaging as well as the playing tool. Since the target age range is limited and it cannot be used for a long term, it is important to consider recyclability and reusability in the design.



Figure 3.15 Playing Kit (assembled)



Figure 3.16 Playing Kit (before assembling)



Figure 3.17 Nets of the Cardboard Box Design

For the items, an instruction booklet, monster pieces and four activity envelopes are included in the box.

• Instruction booklet is for children's guardians to read, understand and carry out the activities in order. It is a sheet of tabloid size paper (11 x 17 inch) which is folded to make a book-like structure. Again, no plastic or other materials are used for binding pages from the viewpoint of recyclability. Instructions are printed on one side of the paper as shown in Figure 3.18. It has eight pages: a front cover, a back cover, and six pages of instructions for each activity. It is written in both English and Japanese.



Figure 3.18 Instruction Booklet (before being folded)

• Monster pieces are used in Activity 1, where children attach these pieces to a daily object that they can find at their home to create their very own monsters. The pieces are made out of 2 ply bristol boards and they come in a variety of sizes, colors and shapes: 105 pieces in total, with 56 different designs and 14 colors (Figure 3.19). Although these shapes derive from body parts of mythical creatures or existing animals as explained in "3.2.1 Monster Pieces", they are designed to look like different shapes rather than a specific part of the body to encourage children's creativity. Abstraction was kept in mind during the design process.



Figure 3.19 Monster Pieces

• Activity envelopes are the four envelopes that each contains playing tools used in each activity. Since Activity 2 and 3 are combined together, there are four envelopes instead of five. Each envelope has a letter written in the scenario that the letter is from *MuMo* staff. It would be read by guardians to the children at the beginning of each activity, with the aim of immersing them more fully in the roleplay that they are *MuMo* creators.

3.3.7 Online Studio

Online Studio is where two children share their monsters, interact with each other, and collaborate together digitally. Miro is used as a platform, which is the online collaborative whiteboard platform used by over 35 million people worldwide. On Miro, there are various functions such as typing, drawing, uploading files and posting sticky notes on the vast online canvas. For this MuMo project, a section for each activity was created on Miro in advance and children and guardians are then asked to fill in the appropriate section using those functions. The Online Studio looks like what is shown in Figure 3.20. The left section is "Introduction", where instructions and necessary URLs are provided for guardians. Unlike the instruction booklet, which gives instructions for each activity itself, instructions written on Online Studio focus on how to conduct the overall MuMo project as a user test, such as when to take videos or how to use Miro. The right section is the "Activity", where children and their guardians actually engage for each activity. Speech bubbles on the very right are some examples of how they can finish their work to give them some ideas of their final output. Texts on Online Studio are written in both English and Japanese. How those sections are used in each activity would be described in detail in the latter section "3.3.9 Activities".



Figure 3.20 Online Studio

3.3.8 VR Museum

In the last stage of this MuMo activity, children will visit the VR Museum which is a virtual room that they can enter via browsers (Figure 3.21). In the VR Museum, their drawing is exhibited with other drawings created by other pairs of children. By looking and walking around the space, they will find their drawing and explore around the virtual world. Hubs by Mozilla is used as a platform to create a virtual space for VR Museum. The 3D space is based on the existing one provided by the service, with photos of drawings and 3D models placed in it. Because it was intended to be a short activity for young children, 3D space which was not too spacious, but had a different scenery point (able to go in and out of the building) was chosen. All of the 3D models were downloaded from Hubs and are protected under copyright of CC Attribution ¹. For 3D models, it was mainly

¹ Light Fixture - Ceiling Recessed by mozillareality on Sketchfab, https://sketchfab.com/models/269fd427629548a8a0949a6493c5b223



monsters or creatures placed in the space to make them look like they are visitors coming to the museum.

Figure 3.21 VR Museum

Fox Minecraft by kuzneciv on Sketchfab, https://sketchfab.com/3d-models/fox-minecraft-3c7b1e0e9a5f4897805b7ec3c4eeb5a5 Om Nom by JuanG3D on Sketchfab, https://sketchfab.com/3d-models/om-nom-bc5863dfedb74e3c96c64962a622fbbd Mushroom Monster by Lizzy Koopa on Sketchfa, https://sketchfab.com/3d-models/mushroom-monster-1088371bbd6e40699e8f8eff14b28954 Little Monster by Lizzy Koopa on Sketchfab, https://sketchfab.com/3d-models/little-monster-2df096c92c95498ca69f1e205e370e3e Sloth Stuffed Animal by Jesse Rose on Sketchfab, https://sketchfab.com/3d-models/sloth-stuffed-animal-4fcb87e8e80c4e16b6c6a24804567372 Animal Ninja by little.bucket on Sketchfab, https://sketchfab.com/3d-models/animal-ninja-60bf79c6ed5841bfa548ce7508c7ebd3 Celeste - Animal Crossing New Horizons by Ines on Sketchfab, https://sketchfab.com/3d-models/celeste-animal-crossing-new-horizons-2f328b60753b4b88b246fe18963d98e5 Rhinoad by keianhzo on Sketchfab, https://sketchfab.com/3d-models/rhinoad-7123b5daac1147b7864b783087fb4f10

3.3.9 Activities

The whole *MuMo* activity consists of five activities, from Activity 1 to Activity 5. It would proceed one by one in order. As shown in Figure 3.22, each activity has a theme: CREATE, UPLOAD & SHARE, INTERACT, CO-CREATE and ENJOY!. Each activity will be discussed in detail in the latter part of this section. Regarding the platforms, Playing Kit would be used throughout the activities, Online Studio from Activity 2 to Activity 4, and VR Museum at last, which is Activity 5. The entire process is designed to gradually move from a physical to an online environment. Furthermore, it is also designed to expand interactions with others step by step as they go through the activities, so that children can first focus on themselves and not be overwhelmed to interact with someone who they don't know. In Activity 5, it is open to anyone who has been involved in MuMo activity. This means that they get to know more about other children from different backgrounds through their artworks and it would also encourage them to have confidence by showing their drawing in an open space. What makes this online-offline activity notable is that each child is not connected at the same time, but can participate asynchronously. It is designed to complete 1-2 activities per week, 2-3 weeks for the whole process period.



Figure 3.22 How It Works

Activity 1- CREATE

- Overview: Children create their own monster by using the Playing Kit and an object that they find in their house.
- Aim: Not only that hands-on creating activity encourages children's creativity, by incorporating daily objects in their work, it enables them to get the sense of cultural differences or similarities when they share their work in the latter activities.
- Platforms: Playing Kit
- Playing tools: Activity 1 letter, magnifying glass, monster pieces
- Steps:

1-1. Their guardians take out the "Activity 1" envelope from the Playing Kit and read out the letter to them.

1-2. Together with their guardians, they would search for an object such as food or daily items in their house that they want to turn into monsters. The magnifying glass is a prop that they can use when they explore around the house.

1-3. Once they find the object, they will place it on a Playing Kit which has turned into a desk. Children will then use monster pieces and attach them on the object to create their monsters by using tapes.

Activity 2- UPLOAD & SHARE

- Overview: To share monsters to each other, their guardians will upload photos of their work to Online Studio and then type in monsters' details by communicating with their children.
- Aim: By giving his/her monster its name and characteristics, it helps the child to help the child to foster their creativity and feel more connected to a monster. It would also be easier for the child on the other side to relate himself or herself to what *MuMo* friend has created.
- Platforms: Playing Kit, Online Studio

- Playing tools: Activity 2 letter, ID card
- Steps:

2-1. Their guardians take out the "Activity 2 & 3" envelope from the Playing Kit and read out the letter to them.

2-2. The guardians will take photos of what their children made in Activity 1.

2-3. The guardians will access Online Studio by reading the QR code or URL on the ID card and uploading the photos.

2-4. The guardians will ask their children about the monsters and fill in the space marked "Activity 2" in Online Studio (Figure 3.23).



Figure 3.23 An Example Outcome of Activity 2

Activity 3- INTERACT

- Overview: After they saw each other's monsters, they would give comments and ask questions to each other by leaving texts in the Activity 3 section of Online Studio. Texts would be typed in by their guardians.
- Aim: The opportunity to think about questions and comments will encourage them to carefully observe the other one's monster and to try to learn

more about MuMo friend. Getting back answers would also make them feel that they are interacting with each other.

- Platforms: Playing Kit, Online Studio
- Playing tools: -
- Steps:

3-1. Guardians will start a conversation with their children by looking at MuMo friend's monster. They would ask them if they have any questions or comments that they would like to hear from MuMo friend.

3-2. The guardians will fill in the space marked "Activity 3" with at least one comment and one question that their children brought up during the conversation.

3-3. They would reply to each other's comments and questions. Guardians would again type in those answers on Online Studio (Figure 3.24).



Figure 3.24 An Example Outcome of Activity 3

Activity 4- CO-CREATE

• Overview: Children would work together on the Online Studio to create one drawing with their monsters as characters that appear in the drawing(Figure 3.25). Teamwork is the key.

- Aim: By having the same goal (draw one picture together) with different roles assigned, they will enhance their cooperative skills.
- Platforms: Playing Kit, Online Studio
- Playing tools: Activity 4 letter
- Steps:

4-1. Their guardians take out the "Activity 4" envelope from the Playing Kit and read out the letter to them.

4-2. Guardians will access to Online Studio and reach to Activity 4 section.

4-3. There is a white canvas, cropped photos of their monsters and digital version of monster pieces in the section. They would move around those elements, place them freely and also use a pen tool to draw on the canvas. However, there is one rule before they start drawing. If the canvas is still white, meaning that the child was the first to start the activity, that child would be in charge of drawing the background. He/She is responsible for deciding where the monsters are at. The next child, who saw the background being drawn, can decide what those monsters are doing at that place.



Figure 3.25 An Example Outcome of Activity 4

Activity 5- ENJOY!

- Overview: They will explore around the VR Museum where their collaborative drawing is exhibited.
- Aim: By experiencing the work not as something that stays among the two children, but as something that is open to anyone who accesses the virtual space, it can encourage them to get a sense of accomplishment from having completed something together. They would also have the opportunity to look at other children's work, which they can compare with their own experience to notice what are the similarities and differences.
- Platforms: Playing Kit, VR Museum
- Playing tools: Activity 5 letter, museum tickets
- Steps:

5-1. Their guardians take out the "Activity 5" envelope from the Playing Kit and read out the letter to them.

5-2. Guardians will access the VR Museum by reading the QR code or URL on the museum tickets.

5-3. Once they enter the virtual room, they will find a panel in front of them which has an easy instruction on how to move around the space. Children will then freely explore the museum. There will be other drawings exhibited in the museum as well, which are drawn by other pairs of children (the VR space used for the experiment actually displayed drawings created by the author). They will experience a virtual museum tour, by exploring the space, finding their drawing, and also looking at those other drawings.

3.3.10 Logo

The logo of *MuMo* is designed based on the font Quicksand. It shows how *MuMo* can let children cooperate with each other, and connects children around the globe. Two letters of "M" represent the two children, with "u" connecting between the two pairs, and "o" representing that the connection goes beyond (Figure 3.26, Figure 3.27).



Figure 3.26 Logo Design Process

MuMe

Figure 3.27 Logo

Chapter 4 Validation

4.1. Method of Inquiry

4.1.1 Purpose

An experiment was conducted with two children actually playing *MuMo* together participating from each home. There are mainly three purposes for the experiment. Firstly, to verify whether the elements of the three concepts, which are "co-creation", "embracing diversity" and "tangible artifacts", can be identified during the experiment. Secondly, to understand how the three *MuMo* platforms are used for each activity by children and their parents, and where improvements can be made. Thirdly, from those results, to verify whether the aims of each of the five activities were achieved or not.

4.1.2 Partcipants

Two 6-year-old children, T and S, and their parents participated in the experiment. They were not acquainted with each other, and this was their first meeting in this experiment. R was T's father and Y was S's mother. T's mother, K, participated in the experiment occasionally. Both families lived in Japan, and their native language was Japanese. In terms of learning other languages, S took an online class in English for about 20 minutes almost every day. Both children were exposed to devices on a daily basis, with T using a smartphone or an iPad for up to 30 minutes and S using Nintendo Switch to play games for up to an hour each day. Both parents had basic computer literacy skills as they used computers for work. When asked in a pre-test interview about how they relate to their friends, R responded that T is a gentle type who is shy at first but shows leadership and values harmony once they get to know each other, and S is the type of person who is flexible and kind, not stubborn when it comes to changing what friends do together. Both children liked to play outside with their friends, and at the time of the pre-test interview, they were both into a pretend play of Minecraft, where they used rocks and other objects they picked up outside as if they were items in the video game. T had never played the actual Minecraft, and S only played it when he went to a friend's house.

4.1.3 Settings

The experiment was conducted in each family's home, T in the living room and S in his room. In both cases, the experiment was conducted on a table using a Playing Kit or a device. As devices, T used an iPad and S used a PC. The author was not present at most of the experiments except for T's Activity 5, because the author was not in Japan and also because to test how *MuMo* is actually used with only the parents and children. For T's Activity 5, the author actually went to T's house to conduct the experiment. It was conducted in the common space of T's apartment, and the device was the author's laptop.

4.1.4 Procedure

First, before starting the experiment, there was an explanation from the author to parents, and confirmed that they agree to participate in the experiment. Then a pre-test interview was conducted. These were all done online, using Zoom, respectively with each family. Pre-test interviews were for both parents and children. Then each family participated in five activities divided into four days, over a period of about three weeks. For each activity, parents were asked to take videos of their children participating in the activities and also to fill out a questionnaire after they have finished. Questionnaires were sent from the author via a messaging app, LINE. If parents had any questions during the period, they were able to ask the author via LINE. After all activities were completed, post-test interviews were conducted with each family. Again, the interviews were for both parents and children. S's family was interviewed online using Zoom but T's family was interviewed face-to-face, right after completing Activity 5. Prior to the start of the experiment, the plan was to divide the activities into three days in a two-week period, assuming that children and parents will be busy on weekdays. However, due to the late arrival of the Playing Kit and the child being sick, it took about three weeks from the start of Activity 1 to the end of Activity 5.

4.1.5 Data Collection and Evaluation Method

Three types of data were collected: video recordings, questionnaires, and interviews. As described in "4.1.4 Procedure", the videos were taken by the parents during the activities (T's Activity 5 was taken by the author). They filmed how the children were playing from before the start of the activity to the end of it. All the videos were uploaded and stored in a Google Drive folder, which the link was shared from the author to their parents beforehand. The video recordings were closely observed by the author and the words and actions were recorded as writing.

The questionnaires were sent by the author after receiving a message from the parents after each activity. The questionnaires asked how their experience of the activity and platforms was, their child's reaction, and any other feedback. Google Form was used to create the questionnaires. The one for Activity 1 can be found in Appendix A.

Interviews were conducted twice, before and after the experiment. In the pretest interview, in addition to basic demographic information about the children, it asked how they usually play, whether they are familiar with the online environment, and whether they have had any experience with multicultural exchange. We also asked directly from the children themselves what kind of games they like to play and what kind of games they usually play. We also asked the children what they thought about playing with children they did not know. The post-test interview was about what the author would like to ask the family further after the video observation of each activity and the results of the survey, and about their thoughts of the whole process. Interviews were video recorded then observed. It was also recorded in writing.

For the evaluation, a qualitative method was conducted using these data. The points to be validated and the platforms used for each activity were different; Table 4.1 summarizes the validation items. For the concept of "co-creation", it was evaluated based on whether or not items of cooperative play were found in those data (Table 4.2). The checklist described here was created based on Scoring Sheets by Lee et al. In addition to Lee et al, Miyake also created a checklist for cooperative play (Lee et al. 2022, Miyake 2016), but since both of these checklists are based on play between children who are actually together in the same place, many items do not apply to this study. Therefore, the number of items is limited. Let it be noted that the CSCW evaluation method was not adopted due to the context of this experiment. Neale et al. noted the complexity of the CSCW evaluation and offered several suggestions for how to do it. Because those suggestions were intended for participants who were old enough to be aware of their goals, it was determined that, in this study, they were not applicable to children who were not yet able to work collaboratively on their own (Neale et al. 2004). For "tangible artifacts", since it helps children's creativity, it was evaluated based on whether or not items related to creativity were found (Table 4.3). The commonly used Guilford Measures was used (Iga 1993). The concept of "embracing diversity" is specifically about cultural diversity, so the evaluation will be based on whether there are any references to or expressions of lifestyles in the experiment.



		Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3	Activity 4	Activity 5
Aims for Ac	ctivities	Not only that hands-on creating activity encourages children's creativity, by incorporating daily objects in their work, it anabiles them to get the sense of cubrail differences or similarities when they share their work in the latter activities.	By pinning his/her monster Its name and characteristics, It helps the child to foster their creativity and feat more connected to a monster. It would also be easier for the child on the other side to neitate himself or herself to what MuMo friend has created.	The opportunity to think about opustoria and comments will encourage them to cartfully observe the other one's monster and to try to learn more about MuMo frend. Cetting back answers would also make them feel that they are interacting with each other.	by having the same goal (draw one poture together) with different coles assigned, they will schance their cooperative skills.	By experiencing the work not as somethic that large among the two children, but as something that is open to anyone who accesses the virtual space, it can encourage them to get a sense of accompaishment from having compatient stime the opportunity to look at other children's work, which they can compare with their own experience to notice what are the similarities and differences.
Design Concepts	co-creation			A	•	•
	cultural diversity	•	•	•	•	()•)
	tangible artifact	•	•			
Platforms	Playing Kit	•	•	A		
	Online Studio			•		
	VR Museum					

1		The child plays by interacting with another child, such as by asking questions	
2	Associative Play	The child tells the parent or caregiver the story of the play with another child	
3		The child pay attention to other children's play activities and engages in many conversations.	
4		The child remembers previous play with other children and is able to continue it the next time they meet	
5		The child engage in play activities with rules	
6	Cooperative Play	The child can play given roles in the process of play with other children	
7		The child play cooperatively with other children to complete objects or structures	
8		The child can work with other children to create new ways of playing or rules	

 Table 4.2 Checklist for Cooperative Play

(Cited from Scoring Sheets by Lee et al. (Lee et al. 2022))

 Table 4.3 Checklist for Creativity

1	fluency (流暢性)	
2	flexibility (柔軟性)	
3	originality(独創性)	
4	elaboration(綿密性)	

(Guilford Measures (Iga 1993))

4.2. Results

The results of the observation of video recordings, questionnaires, and interviews will be recorded in Appendix B, C, and D, respectively. Below is a summary of each activity, captured video images, and the children's final work.

Opening the Playing Kit

Parents were also asked in advance to take videos when they open the Playing Kit. Their reactions are shown in Figure 4.1 and Figure 4.2. T seemed to be excited to see what was inside and he cheered when he knew he could play Activity 1 right away. S stared at the Playing Kit for a while after he opened it and pulled out the two drawers to see what was inside.



Figure 4.1 T's Reaction when He Opened the Playing Kit



Figure 4.2 S's Reaction when He Opened the Playing Kit

T didn't use any daily object and only used monster pieces when he made his monster. This is due to his father not understanding what exactly he needed to do. This would be discussed in detail in the latter section. T also got several suggestions from R on how to place the pieces. Figure 4.3 shows him playing Activity 1 and his final outcome. S eventually made three monsters in total, using an empty tissue box, a plastic bottle and a magnifying glass, which was one of the props in the Playing Kit. S continuously came up with ideas on how to create them without any suggestions from Y. Figure 4.4 shows him playing Activity 1 and his final outcome.



Figure 4.3 T Playing Activity 1 (left) and His Final Outcome (right)



Figure 4.4 S Playing Activity 1 (left) and His Final Outcome (right)

Because it was an activity where parents type in what their children elaborate about their monsters, both families had an active parent-child conversation. There was a time that R had to wait for T when R couldn't use Miro the way he wanted to. For S's family, S always had his monster that he created in his hand while he was explaining to Y.



Figure 4.5 T Explaining His Monster's Personality (left) and His Final Outcome (right)



Figure 4.6 S Explaining His Monster's Ability (left) and His Final Outcome (right)

When it comes to asking questions and giving comments to each other's monster, S came up with several questions immediately, whereas T said he has none when he was asked by R, although he had several comments or questions when he was listening to R explaining about S's monsters. Although both T and S replied to each other's questions in detail, R and Y summarized their stories when it came to writing down inside the speech bubbles (Figure 4.7 and 4.8).



Figure 4.7 T Listening to R Explaining about S's Monsters (left) and His Final Outcome (right)



Figure 4.8 S Asking Questions to T About Monsters (left) and His Final Outcome (right)

In Activity 4, technical constraints of Miro were seen on both sides, although they were using different devices. For T's family, they struggled with moving the objects, using the pen tool, and choosing the right colors. For S's family, because they didn't have a mouse, S couldn't draw with his fingers on the touchpad as he liked. Hence, S would say verbally how he wants to draw on the canvas and Y drew it for him. Despite these technical limitations, there were several moments when the children smiled after they were able to draw as they wanted. There was also a conversation between T and R to leave out some space for S so that he can also draw on the same canvas later on. S who saw T's drawing on the canvas, made use of some drawings to create a new monster (eyes were added on top of the mountains and a mouth at the bottom).



Figure 4.9 T and S Playing Activity 4 (top) and Their Final Work (bottom)

In the VR Museum, both T and S seemed to be excited while they were looking for their work. When they found it, T mentioned what was drawn in the drawing whereas S did not. After they found their drawing, they seemed to enjoy the VR Museum in a little different way, depending on whether they had virtual experience or not. It was T's first experience to join VR rooms and he enjoyed moving around the space itself. S, on the other hand, who had virtual experiences before, also enjoyed moving in the room but also had time to mention about other drawings exhibited in the museum.



Figure 4.10 T and S Playing Activity 5

4.3. Discussion

4.3.1 Concepts

Regarding the elements of the three concepts, the first concept, "co-creation" was able to confirm behaviors and actions related to the items on the list of cooperative play in the video observation. In particular, we were able to identify many items in Activity 4. The picture was created in the order T and then S, and it was remarkable that T took care to leave space for S to draw. This can be considered as a sign of concern for the other one and a desire to cooperate to complete the work. S, who saw T's drawing, updated it by adding new parts to it. It could be said that the two completed the picture together as a collaborative work. S had also incorporated T's monsters into his own story in the previous Activity 3. The characteristics of cooperative play, such as caring for the other person and creating something new by incorporating ideas of others, were observed. On the other hand, in the post-test interview, the parents gave feedback that most of the time their children did not feel that they were playing together with the other child. The asynchronous nature of this play and the fact that the interaction was text-based may have been the cause. Even though the players understood that there was a partner and could play according to the rules, the design made it difficult for them to intuitively understand that they were playing with a partner. As for Y, she did not mention T's name at all and called him "friend". This may have contributed to the difficulty for S to relate him to T. Improvements such as exchanging videos in advance, or to play with both synchronous and asynchronous situations are needed.

Regarding the second concept, "embracing diversity", there was little cultural exchange between T and S. However, cultural aspects were mentioned by both T and S. Y mentioned in the post-interview that "S said he was surprised when he saw the sample image of the shoes being used, as if he had never thought of that idea". Video observation of them talking with their parents in Activity 2 and Activity 3 also revealed that the characteristics of the monsters reflected their respective experiences. For S, the monsters were all elementary school kids, which may have been influenced by the fact that he himself entered elementary school in April of this year; for T, the monster's ability to be strong and could carry a box of beer reflected the fact that T was helping his parents carry their deliverables. These therefore suggest that both individuals were projecting their own daily lives onto the monster. While the design was able to pull out the cultural elements, it was not able to convey them to their friends. Design that can share their cultural experiences with others is an issue for the future.

The last concept, "tangible pieces", confirmed its usefulness, especially how it is used and how important its design is. In Activity 1, T used only monster pieces, while S used them in combination with the daily objects, in other words, created monsters in a way that was designed. As a result, many items related to creativity were found for S, such as "fluency", in which S came up with and pasted monster body parts one after another using objects, "flexibility", in which S created three pieces of work instead of just one, and "originality", in which S expressed not only body parts but also the inner concept with monster parts. T, on the other hand, had monster pieces only, so he had to create a monster from nothing. There were several occasions when it took time for him to choose the next piece or to get suggestions from his parents. These indicate that there was a significant difference in creativity depending on whether or not monster pieces were used in combination with daily objects. Furthermore, in a post-test interview, Y provided a comment as follows: "I think S is not a crafty type, so it would've been difficult for him to create from scratch. However, when the well-made pieces like these were prepared properly, he was able to concentrate and stimulate his creativity." A balance between open-ended and structured play, as described in "3.2.1 Monster Pieces", worked well. It is also notable that S explained the monster's characteristics while holding the work in his hand in Activity 2. This allowed for a concrete explanation of what parts of the monster's body represent what. T was explaining while looking at a photo of his monster on an iPad. Although the "originality" of its name and the "flexibility" of him mentioning the favorite foods one after another were observed, "elaboration" was little compared to S. Therefore, it can be suggested that the daily objects, which were initially designed for cultural elements, actually contributed greatly to creativity by being designed to be used in combination with the monster pieces.

4.3.2 Platforms

The Playing Kit cardboard box was not used as it was intended. R, who did not have the explanation in advance, took off the separating board (see Figure 4.1). In addition, neither T nor S used it as a desk. In Activity 1, R did not use the magnifying glass and daily objects. He explained that he had read the instruction booklet but did not get the idea of what he needed to do. All of these problems regarding the Playing Kit can be solved by adding illustrations of how to use them to the instruction booklet.

As for Online Studio, it was difficult to use Miro if it was their first time, and this affected their satisfaction. The questionnaire result showed that R rated the usability of Online Studio as 1 for both Activity 3 and Activity 4, and his satisfaction was also linked to this rating. The platform for Online Studio should be changed. Another area for improvement is its layout design. Y did not read the name of the monster created by T, and parents didn't write all of the children's stories due to the limited space.

As for the VR Museum, R could not connect due to technical issues, and the author ended up going to their house. Y mentioned the complexity of accessing the VR Museum, starting from the QR code on the ticket, sending that link to her email, and eventually opening the browser from her computer. Regarding the virtual experience, both T and S enjoyed looking at the 3D models. S, who had experience with virtual spaces, also had time to look at the exhibited pictures although he didn't mention many about what was drawn on each picture. For future work, it could be better to have a more seamless integration of their creation and the 3D space.

4.3.3 Activities

From these results and discussions, the following is a description of what conclusions were reached for Activity 1 to Activity 5.

- Activity 1: Creativity was encouraged, and the role of the daily objects was found to help the creativity even more when combined with the monster pieces.
- Activity 2: Through parent-child communication, children further expanded their creativity. Creativity was especially encouraged when the children actually had their work in their hands.
- Activity 3: Although they talk about each other's monsters or incorporate in their own stories, they rarely mentioned each other. They were also found to reflect their own experiences on monsters.
- Activity 4: Cooperative play features were observed, such as caring for others and taking their ideas and creating new ones. Role-sharing did not function well for the latter child.

• Activity 5: Although there were no words or actions that corresponded to a sense of accomplishment, the children were excited to discover their work, and even after finding it, they talked about the picture with their parents. A child with the VR experience was able to mention other works, but a child without VR experience tended to enjoy the space itself. Both showed interest in the 3D modeled characters.

Additionally, there were two findings regarding parent-child communication considerations throughout the activities. First, several children's behaviors were restricted by comments and actions of their parents. For example, in Activity 3, R failed to pick up on several questions that were raised by T during the conversation, and in Activity 4, R stopped T from creating another monster although T wanted to. The second finding is the reference to the other child: R had mentioned S's name and T sometimes mentioned his name as well, whereas Y called T "friend", so S never said T's name during the activities. This could be a factor that reduced the sense of togetherness. The design of parent-child communication needs to be further explored.

4.3.4 Limitations

There were some limitations concerning the experiment. First, only one case of the experiment had been completed by the time this paper was written. Other experiments were planned with two 6-year-olds of Chinese nationality living in Shanghai, one 6-year-old of Japanese nationality living in London, and one 6-yearold of Japanese nationality living in Japan. However, Shanghai was locked down during the experimental phase due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and subsequent experiments had to be canceled due to uncertainty about how long it would take for the Playing Kits to be delivered. Although some suggestions were presented, it is not possible to draw statistical conclusions from this experiment alone due to the small sample size. Second, the experiment was conducted between two native Japanese-speaking boys living in Japan. Compared to the interaction between children who live in different places or speak different languages, there may be less interaction in terms of cultural factors.

Chapter 5 Conclusion and Future Work

5.1. Conclusion

This research proposed to design cooperative play for children at a distance, by the name of MuMo. It is an online-offline activity that would allow two children (5-7 year olds) at home with their parents or caretakers to play together. They will be using three platforms: Playing Kit, Online Studio and VR Museum, and go through five activities in total, asynchronously. The goal of the two children is to co-create a picture together, using their own monsters that they created in the earlier activities. There are three design concepts for MuMo and they are "co-creation", "embracing diversity" and "tangible pieces".

Based on the results and discussions from the user test, the concept of "cocreation" was confirmed by having features of cooperative play such as caring for the other child and creating something new by incorporating ideas of others. However, asynchronous play did not make them feel that they were playing together. For "embracing diversity", although there was no cultural exchange between the children, it was possible to see that both children were projecting their own daily lives onto the monster. The next step would be to think of how to convey that cultural aspects to the other child. Regarding the "tangible pieces", the usefulness of the monster pieces was confirmed by combining them with everyday objects. The process of creating the monster and explaining about the monster both enhanced the children's creativity. It was also found that providing a step-by-step activity and a variety of pieces allows children to play freely in a structured play environment, and empowers their creativity. The Playing Kit did not convey some of the intended design to the participants. The Online Studio used Miro, the popular online collaborative whiteboard platform used around the world, but even if parents have basic digital literacy, the usability of the platform was not as good
as it was expected. While the VR platform was enjoyed by the children, more needs to be done to draw more attention to the content of the pictures exhibited. When looking at each activity, Activity 1, 2, and 4 accomplished most of the initial aims, although there were some improvements in the cultural exchange part and the design of the Online Studio. Activity 3 and 5 need major improvement in that they were not aware of their MuMo friends and others. The importance of parent-child communication was revealed throughout the activities, and it should be further explored to incorporate in design.

5.2. Future Work

5.2.1 Improvements

Playing Kit could be further improved by having a more visually understandable instruction booklet. It would be also better to have some advice in the instruction booklet for guardians for each activity so that they would not overlook or unknowingly restrict their children's speech and behavior. For the Online Studio, it should be transferred from Miro to another platform, which could also record their voices or videos during the activities. By exchanging their voices or photos or videos, it allows children to feel more connected to each other. For the same reason, the platform also needs a function for notifications when the other child has participated in the activity. In terms of connectedness, exchanging videos in advance, or to play with both synchronous and asynchronous situations should also be further explored. For the VR Museum, it could be better to have a more seamless integration of their creation and the 3D space, so that children can enjoy both the space and their outcomes at the same time. Since there was a limitation for the user test that it was done only once with two native Japanese-speaking boys living in Japan, more tests among children who live in different regions should be conducted. It should also be noted it is necessary to develop a checklist specifically for remote cooperative play among young children.

5.2.2 Extensibility

MuMo was an online-offline cooperative activity for young children who are located away from each other and can participate together with their parents from home. TUI was not used due to the difficulty of implementation of practical use considering the technological limitations and its cost. It was hence designed to play the activities in both online and offline environments individually, but seamlessly. If devices such as the Amazon Glow become more widely used in the future, practical research using TUI will be possible. Therefore, designing activities that use TUI in both synchronous and asynchronous situations at home would be the next step, and would be possible in the not so distant future.

References

- Abdullah, Anna Christina (2009) "Multicultural Education in Early Childhood: Issues and Challenges," Journal of International Cooperation in Education, Vol. 12, No. 1, p. 159–175.
- Akkari, Abdeljalil and Kathrine Maleq (2020) Global Citizenship Education: Critical and International Perspectives: Springer International Publishing.
- Alessandra, Fumagalli Romario (2019) "Imaginary language," URL: https:// www.rca.ac.uk/students/alessandra-fumagalli-romario/.
- Alonso-Campuzano, Cristina, Giuseppe Iandolo, María Concetta Mazzeo, Noelia Sosa González, Michelle Jin Yee Neoh, Alessandro Carollo, Giulio Gabrieli, and Gianluca Esposito (2021) "Children's Online Collaborative Storytelling during 2020 COVID-19 Home Confinement," *European Journal of Investi*gation in Health, Psychology and Education, Vol. 11, No. 4, pp. 1619–1634.
- Amazon, . (2022) "Amazon Glow," URL: https://www.amazon.com/ Introducing-Amazon-Interactive-Projector-Togetherness/dp/ B09DWNZQYM.
- Antle, Alissa N. and Christopher Frauenberger (2020) "Child–Computer Interaction in Times of a Pandemic," in *International Journal of Child-Computer Interaction*, Vol. 26, p. 100201.
- Catala, Alejandro, Cristina Sylla, Manët Theune, Eva Brooks, and Janet C. Read (2018) "Rethinking Children's Co-Creation Processes beyond the Design of TUIs," in *Proceedings of the 17th ACM Conference on Interaction Design* and Children, pp. 733–740: ACM.
- Cohen, Maayan, Kody R. Dillman, Haley MacLeod, Seth Hunter, and Anthony Tang (2014) "OneSpace: Shared Visual Scenes for Active Freeplay," in *Pro-*

ceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp. 2177–2180.

- Drew, Chris (2020) "Cooperative Play Benefits and Challenges for Children," January, URL: https://helpfulprofessor.com/cooperative-play/.
- Harvard Graduate School of Education, . (2021) "COVID and Education: Challenges, Opportunities, and the Future of Learning," URL: https://www. youtube.com/watch?v=2KlzTE18ATo.
- Elbrecht, Cornelia (2020) "The Sensorimotor Hands-Brain Connection," July, URL: https://www.sensorimotorarttherapy.com/blog/2020/7/ 29/the-sensorimotor-hands-brain-connection.
- Fails, Jerry Alan, Allison Druin, Mona Leigh Guha, Gene Chipman, Sante Simms, and Wayne Churaman (2005) "Child's Play: A Comparison of Desktop and Physical Interactive Environments," in *Proceeding of the 2005 Conference* on Interaction Design and Children - IDC '05, pp. 48–55: ACM Press.
- Hewes, Jane (2006) "LET THE CHILDREN PLAY-Nature's Answer to Early Learning," p. 8.
- Hunter, Seth E., Pattie Maes, Anthony Tang, Kori M. Inkpen, and Susan M. Hessey (2014) "WaaZam!: Supporting Creative Play at a Distance in Customized Video Environments," in *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pp. 1197–1206.
- IBC Colorado, . (2020) "Predicting the Future with Thomas Frey," November, URL: https://k12.thoughtfullearning.com/FAQ/what-are-21st-century-skills.
- Iga, Noriko (1993) "創造的思考の評価基準," 日本心理学会第 57回大会発表論文集
- Interesting Engineering, . (2021) "Life in 2050: A Glimpse at Education in the Future," June, URL: https://interestingengineering.com/life-in-2050-a-glimpse-at-education-in-the-future.

- Ishii, Hiroshi and Brygg Ullmer (1997) "Tangible Bits: Towards Seamless Interfaces between People, Bits and Atoms," in *Proceedings of the ACM SIGCHI* Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp. 234–241: ACM.
- Jansweijer, Job (2014) "KonneKt, a Game for Isolated Children in Hospitals," URL: https://konnektplay.nl/.
- K-12 Thoughtful Learning, . (2015) "What Are 21st Century Skills?," August, URL: https://k12.thoughtfullearning.com/FAQ/what-are-21st-century-skills.
- Battelle for Kids, . (2019) "P21 Frameworks & Resources," URL: https://www. battelleforkids.org/networks/p21.
- Lawrence, Sandra (2019) The Atlas of Monsters: Mythical Creatures from Around the World: Running Press Kids.
- Lee, Sun-Hee, Ickpyo Hong, and Hae Yean Park (2022) "Development of a Social Play Evaluation Tool for Preschool Children," Vol. 10, No. 1, p. 102.
- Muto, Takashi (2013) 幼児教育のデザイン:保育の生態学:東京大学出版会, pp.173-202.
- Neale, Dennis C, John M Carroll, and Mary Beth Rosson (2004) "Evaluating Computer-Supported Cooperative Work: Models and Frameworks," Vol. 6, No. 3, p. 10.
- Osmo, . (2014) "Osmo," URL: https://www.playosmo.com/en/.
- Pew Research Center, . (2020) "PARENTING CHILDREN IN THE AGE OF SCREENS," July, URL: https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2020/ 07/28/childrens-engagement-with-digital-devices-screen-time/.
- Promethean Blog, . (2017) "Collaborative Learning vs. Cooperative Learning: What's the Difference?," URL: https://resourced.prometheanworld. com/collaborative-cooperative-learning/.
- R. Wilson, Frank (1998) The Hand: How Its Use Shapes the Brain, Language, and Human Culture: Pantheon.

- Raffle, Hayes, Koichi Mori, Rafael Ballagas, and Mirjana Spasojevic (2011) "Pokaboo: A Networked Toy for Distance Communication and Play," IDC '11, p. 201–204, New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery.
- Read, J.C. and P. Markopoulos (2013) "Child–Computer Interaction," in International Journal of Child-Computer Interaction, Vol. 1, pp. 2–6.
- Rigamajig, . (2022) "Rigamajig Building Kits & Geemo Children's STEM Learning through Play," URL: https://www.rigamajig.com/.
- Rötkönen, Erkki, Heike Winschiers-Theophilus, Naska Goagoses, Helvi Itenge, Gabriel Shinedima, and Erkki Sutinen (2021) "Playing on the Globe: Facilitating Virtual Communications between Namibian and Finnish Learners to Co-Design an Interactive Map Game," in *Interaction Design and Children*, IDC '21, p. 160–170, New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery.
- Sago Mini, . (2013) "Sago Mini Box: Award-Winning Subscription Box for Kids," URL: https://sagominibox.com/.
- Sago Sago Toys Inc, . (2014) "Sago Mini Monsters," URL: https://sagomini. com/apps/monsters/.
- Schmidt, Kjeld, P O Box, and Liam Bannon (1992) "Taking CSCW Seriously: Supporting Articulation Work," p. 34.
- Sharma, Sumita, Pekka Kallioniemi, Jaakko Hakulinen, Tuuli Keskinen, and Markku Turunen (2019) "Exploring Globally Inclusive Online Collaboration for Indian and Finnish Schoolchildren," in *Proceedings of the 18th ACM International Conference on Interaction Design and Children*, IDC '19, p. 153–160, New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery.
- Shibasaki, Mina, Youichi Kamiyama, Elaine Czech, Koichi Obata, Yusuke Wakamoto, Keisuke Kishi, Takayuki Hasegawa, Shinkuro Tsuchiya, Soichiro Matsuda, and Kouta Minamizawa (2020) "Interest Arousal by Haptic Feedback During a Storytelling for Kindergarten Children," in Ilana Nisky, Jess Hartcher-O' Brien, Michaël Wiertlewski, and Jeroen Smeets eds. Haptics:

Science, Technology, Applications, Vol. 12272 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science: Springer International Publishing, pp. 518–526.

- Sylla, Cristina, Iris Susana Pires Pereira, and Gabriela Sá (2019) "Designing Manipulative Tools for Creative Multi and Cross-Cultural Storytelling," in Proceedings of the 2019 on Creativity and Cognition, pp. 396–406: ACM.
- UNICEF, . (2017) THE STATE OF THE WORLD'S CHILDREN 2017- Children in a Digital World, USA: UNICEF Division of Communication, pp.173-202.
- Vasilchenko, Anna, Jie Li, Bektur Ryskeldiev, Sayan Sarcar, Yoichi Ochiai, Kai Kunze, and Iulian Radu (2020) "Collaborative Learning & Co-Creation in XR," CHI EA '20, p. 1–4, New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery.
- Verenikina, Irina, Pauline Harris, and Pauline Lysaght (2003) "Child's Play: Computer Games, Theories of Play and Children's Development," CRPIT '03, p. 99–106, AUS: Australian Computer Society, Inc.
- Villar, Nicolas, Daniel Cletheroe, Greg Saul, Christian Holz, Tim Regan, Oscar Salandin, Misha Sra, Hui-Shyong Yeo, William Field, and Haiyan Zhang (2018) "Project Zanzibar Demonstration: A Portable and Flexible Tangible Interaction Platform," in *Extended Abstracts of the 2018 CHI Conference* on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp. 1–4: ACM.
- Viner, Russell, Max Davie, and Alison Firth (2019) The health impacts of screen time: a guide for clinicians and parents: Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, pp.11.
- Walsh, Greg, Craig Donahue, and Zachary Pease (2016) "Inclusive Co-Design within a Three-Dimensional Game Environment," IDC '16, p. 1–10, New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery.
- Zuiderveld, Sanny (2018) "One Globe Kids Make Friends around the world," URL: https://oneglobekids.org/.

全国保育協議会, . (2020) "Information on health and medical consultation," URL: https://www.mhlw.go.jp/stf/covid-19/kenkouiryousoudan_00006.html.

Appendices

A. Post-Test Questionnaire (Activity 1)

```
MuMo Survey-Activity 1
MuMo アンケート・アクティビティ1
  Thank you for participating in the MuMo project. Please take a few minutes to complete the brief 3-5 minute survey below. MuMo プロジェ
クトビ ご参加いただき 部にあ かだとうこざいます。はて3-5分程度の原用なアンケートにご協力ください。
Minute insteaded to a survey with emanged aperpointing with Keis University Back Public Concerning Protection of Personal Information.
Minute insteaded and information control and approximately approximately
 コロムとTURNELOADALADIOLEA AREITEN-CAMBLETON

キネアンケートとて交互される各種は、使用整整化、数単体の

はなびかいかあったがながなけないでのにな

キネフォームはGoogle Workspaceにて登録されています。

Hitts UPrown Hall Labia Labia (Jababa) Updat Hall
  基本情報
 1。 基本情報に記入されている方のお名前とお子様との関係を教えて下さい。(記入例:西脇由希子、母)。
 2。 基本情報2: アクティビティ1の実施日時を教えて下さい。(記入例:2022年5月1日(日)11:30~12:00)・
1.アクティビティについて
3。 1-1.内容と目標はわかりやすかったですか?。
             1つだけマークしてください。
               4。 1-2 どれくらい時間がかかりましたか?。
              1 つだけマークしてください。
             10分末満
10~20分程度
20~30分程度
30分以上
 5。 1-3. 満足度について教えてください。*
               エラだけマークレてください。
               1 2 3 4 5
RCRELTINGI O O C ETGRELTING
2. プレイキットとMiroboardについて
  6。 2-1. 今回のアクティビティにおいて、プレイキットは色やデザイン、ツールや文字の大きさは使いやすいものになっていましたか?。
              キマだけマークしてください。

    1
    2
    3
    4
    5

    とても使いづらい
    〇
    〇
    〇
    〇
    とても使いウチい
```

Figure A.1 Post-Test Questionnaire- Page 1 of 2

69	子様の反応について							
	3-1.お子様が一番楽しそうにしていた時はどんな時ですか?。 3-2.お子様が一番つまらなそう、わからなそうにしていた時はどんな時ですか?。 3-3.お子様の行動で気になったこと、意外だったことを教えて下さい。。							
おう (41)	子様のご意見 に質問し、概要を記入ください。							
	4-1.何が一番楽しかった?*							
	4-2.何がつまらなかった?。							
₹¢	の他							
	5-1.今回よかったことを教えてください。							
l.	5-2. 気になることややりづらかったことがあれば教えて下さい。							
ų.	5-3.その他何かあれば自由にご記入ください。							
	このコンデン Vil Goode が特別すれ	実現したものではありません。						
	Constant -	1						

Figure A.2 Post-Test Questionnaire- Page 2 of 2

B. Results of Video Recordings

00_Opening the Kit



Figure B.1 Video Recording- Opening the Playing Kit



Figure B.2 Video Recording- Activity 1



Figure B.3 Video Recording- Activity 2



Figure B.4 Video Recording- Activity 3



Figure B.5 Video Recording- Activity 4



Figure B.6 Video Recording- Activity 5

C. Results of Questionnaires

Questio	nnaire R	esult																	
Activity 1																			
A+194		1.79746	++5:96VE		A Fact and	3.由于特の发花に	364T	www.com.e	4.お芋様のご業界		5. 2010		Service and the service of the servi	1					
44941 EAR T(-430248) 248,088348 44776, 24,08 24776, 24,08 24776, 24,08 24776, 24,08 24	84982 777-0 7-10 8809884 5124-0 (208 20240 810 (2010) 30-000	11 MB28 Bith5+0+ T5-01(TF 8-7	tid centile Longerta BrideLA Bri	1-3 BERLIT	11.488073748 74128247.7544 84488.07474 74468.07474 (181477448) (181477448) (181477448)	51 8382-880 550,759,802 6487757	12 8787-8786555 88467555 51488274 6877757	5-3 あき毎の可能であいないた こよ、室内灯ッたことを見えて予 おい、	11 RM-88.07	44 K873866870	ST WEARS SCREEKTS SRL	NA BUILDER FUT LEGISLER BAURE TTRA	SA COMPANIES COMPANIES						
к.я	3000 0 1 M 14(8) (2.) 19 100 10:00		MORIALE			たいないの意味着	10.38-88-10.488.80 A 508-048-477-000 1018-048-0477-000 1018-04-048-05 1018-018-04-07885-05 1018-018-04-07885-05	antenner o	4539-845555 646	•.		BREALSON RACE Antonio Contrata 1. Book (Baranan Ostron.							
×, 8	2002-816.78 1049 1798 6 - 1898-1839		10-209 %			10.55-04.857 8807048	BUNG-FEITAR REAL	18186/28+C+8L5 P&IRC4539-4204 8+C+50 TEFEL5	14400000480 190522-4845 -8	QL.	844,0453 8-9963(22	MC50-77-885278 MR701072-0525 TF		1					
Activity 2				-										1					
1.1.1.1.1	1	1.79942	+000115	1	2. プレイキットはい	3425.21%000	4741.623.6523L-1	主力手根の支払について	and the next	4.約干燥のご業業	(appropriate)	5.708	(1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.	271302232323					
ATI-STORE BLEFFELORE BELCTOLE AMBREAF	● 40002 7974C ↑ 4200 単数回転数量 長てすらい、図入業 2022年5月1日(日) 11:30→12:00)	10 10020 1021-0-0-0 10-0-0-0-0 10-0 0-7	1-2 2504 1-832/05 2-1/81.5 2-1	SINCELCO SINC	こ1年回位アラサイ ビサイ2において、ア レイキットは色やデ サイン、ワールや王 市の大手が正式いた ギ(いためになってい 家したトラ	Come Sudci2番 や文字のステム や文字のステム いやすいものになっ ていましたか?	コーム Microsoft Chilling Shutholdスティブナーボー・不当 開連えてもためのポプラティビ ドッド2番組できましたか?	9-7 CEL-2-10-00-00-00-04 CEL-2-10-00-00-04 CEL-2-10-00-04 CEL-2-10	たくれていためです。 生んな特ですか? どんな特ですか?	Pot T	12 m 17 18 4	BATOMAN,	らそうたことがあれば悪え てきまい。	Anu parts					
R. N	202245月15日(日)	1 3	10~2098	1 13	1	1		モンスターの性格が優力につ	minic#525/LA	\$539-0#ER	micalになかなか	ホテの家にそうこれい日	いやいに使わていないと、ス		1				
Y. 0	2122/5/15(10)/7/9/# 9-6 10/#	ľ	12-2019-8		1	1		もうスターこういて聞かれて い見続	ENCERTING	\$235-0845 8444514628	6L	ALCENER CL	01.8AT1-01-0.85-0 88/31XI17851-0 85/8/81.5		1				
Activity 3		1. 703.01	B. 477 (1) 1 P	~	To the case of the	and the second second	19.500 III.		Th and a second	- the st	Is made to a								
####1 EAP	▲本情報2 799-0C	1.1. (592)	12.580	1.5 #2.81	21.4807274	2-2 Minihoant	2-5 Miniboard (Drifting	31 89487-841430	32 87481-#1	1-3 A ##AO()B	4.1.21748124	47 8801-84294	43.65-1.02.7804	3-1.9(3/-84	1 52 48'286	10.0 82475	61.4回JA->	60 80540	63. COMME
たている方のため 前とれず様との間違 を載えてうたい、記 入前 高幅品をす。 載	* 2100 (KR 15 H 5 H A C Y 244, A 100 (B) 2122/44, A 100 (B) 11:30 = 12:001	78-56-79 2-7	5-7	SPAC NEW LC	ビディルはALE、フ レイキットは色やデ デイン、ワームや天 学の大きかは扱いや ギレトムのになってい ましたかっ	の中心の Dudeill 色 やデザイン、ワーム や文字の大きろは登 いやすいんがになっ ていましたか?	「Dardentil ステックマロンスを 簡単えてもその後アクティビ ティロ細胞できましたか?	b7	さらいだやう、わからな そういしていた時日 どんな時ですか?	であいたことを構え れどったことを構え てすまい。	ALCONTRA LCONTRA P7	ALCOLOD*	当年ロバイタも用りまし いき目々次の注動に繋が 分割したか?	CB-st(7	\$P-30.7	RTENER RTENER RESIDENT RESIDENT	5355 5355	たことがあれば 第末で予想い	BAOSAN
K.H.	2022年5月21日(土)		109.8.8	1 8	1			お友達のモンスターを見てい 4.00	お洗涤の実際にとう 音えて高いか分から	81.81.	144	LIG18	6.618	Pademotic	#L.	1088-6451		000107#1-55	
Y. 0	79942941228		10~20584 R					EMORAL PRATI-LA	また何 単のPCILやうスポ ないため値楽しつら いようでした	BHEBBRAFAL GALBERLE	UBL*	181.4	121.4	単物に並みてこ んな来源的によ んだ、単物にてい もんだと思うた	\$5.1	こんなお何っても んだーと思った。 てたい例えいう わしよかった	たままに用い までてした	RHR0POIL TOXA50-0 8, 893943 TUS	
	HSIZAIEVEN SEA	BARRINE	R. 11. 11. 11. 11. 11. 11. 11. 11. 11. 1	r る都分は Act	NIN120BURR	、質問に苦える際	日は Activity4の前に実施。	YIZAcivity 40727-	E Activity 3075	ッケートと一種に目							18	-	
Activity 4										_									
A		1.79742	9400610	Its and	2.76-45-1-26	oboard: 34*E	D.A.Monterent Children	3.お手様の表記について	1.2. 1. 2 10.1 - 10.7	111 8 6 8 5 1 1 1	4.824253	Aubilio Friend) との文法	1941E	5.87400	ER INZ HIPTORIA	The medity.	5.208		
AUTOSANAS ALASANAS ANTOSAN ANTOSAN ANTOSAN ANTOSAN	○ 240 第日回時日報 Aで予約1、(2)入税 2022年1月1日(日) 11:30-12:001	#25599 765679 57	198300 8-1812 8-7	SUTBLETE EBA	ビディルにおいて、ブ しておりトロ巻のデ サイン、ワームの文 単のスタルス単しいの 下しんのになってい にんのになってい	Colore Bashciph やデザイン、ワーム やズギの大きたは彼 いやすいものになっ ていましたか?	Nationはステップや使い大き 加速えてもその後アクティビ アイロン構成できましたか?	Lechimazolamer hT	まらなぞう、わからな そうにしていた時間 どんな時でぞかう	*#1:508:22. #H-5:22##X ****	SOLEVOR P BUSACER L'OUELS BT	MUTORLANY	高やコルムから何か新し い会話やきの当新に繋が いましたか?	C8-01/7	\$3-55.7	00880288 87228707 822287024 82228624 822289810 117	たこれ後継えてC 花坊らい	とかからいうたかい たいとの名称は たえてするい。	AND AND
K. X	2022#5.8218(E) 11.00~11.30		20-3014 R				1	CAN-SANILANDER LANCELEM	nc#5125C#	918.	2.018	1418	1418	###1/11/6 19	•	およまはまた場 いていなかった		mm37(株)+150 い、キャン・CR10 の力部分にも聞 けてしまう。	
Activity 5				80 				0	60						······		· · · · · ·	2	
4458 P.1.2		1 79748	12 550	The search	21.986727/	2215-71031-	3. お子様の反応について	32 89481-828659	Tan avenues	4.82475844	AJ BRID	11.53-205780	5. 約十倍のご素用 5.1 ビジー参考したったう	Ing stations	TAR APPARE	5. COM	as annas:	5.1 FORME	
ATI-SACAS BILITAL B MALTIN B LM MEMBY. B	5-5538839948 ACTPA-(2008) 202245810(8) 11:30~12:00	Million CY Throng CY	い神像がか からました ターフ	SINTBACK EMA	ビディロニカム・モ、ラ レイキットは色やデ サイン、ウームや支 学校大学会は見いや 下いためになってい おしたかっ	ロアムは色やテザイ ン、文学の大きたは 優いやデントものに なっていましたか?	LTVNHIZEAGHTF N7	ร. กละเธรรณ์ เป็นบังเพ และเป็นพระระจ	第月になったこと、第四 行ったことを増えてす さい。	1000 #46: 21- 7 # 81, 71-#1,5 5-7	MASH-Sel TURLED?	作品やコメントから初か 新しい会話や次の活動 に見かりましたか?		128-04.7	ATANAN ATANAN ATANAN ATANAN ATANAN ATANAN ATANAN	NLABORATC EDGY	ADAMA SALAN ADAMANI BREYAN	教教授 新行2	
R. 2	2022@8.818(8)75 00~12:00		20HWT				キュージアム内容経動している でき	mc4L	10-9+3.2% R	(B).*	14.14	L-U-L	ミュージアム内主動いてい 名称	*L	山田センスター(していて用の	8.8.8/-1-9.9 ASS281.4	mobile.		
v.a	20220530 1718		NG-2059-00				WL-CI-EM	##152(B2-25)-#	きっと高端をおして いました	C C H	Last.	14.18	AVENILLES	6L	Robert, A Larn, Vila Rate of a U. Lastic Tride de	*######## #65*0.851L 51,	Crastant.		

Figure C.1 Results of Questionnaires

D. Results of Interviews

Pre-test Interview

No	Questions	Antions ひょ Innity (2022/5/7 11:00 AAIEオンラインスーティング) 2022/5/7 5:00 AAIEオンラインスーティング)								
	Questions to the children									
	第5ないそと最多のほどう思う?	10月に口のオンラインについて買用、その後このの買用、 事前にくたいう、別い宅の子上並らよ、泉しかって買っていたよ、 高かっていたまであくためは、裏市かんでなないを知られ、そのか しゃ買したいからない。 しゃ見たいたくない、 ないたいたい、 のにてもう、 品にこて少しにやにもった。	5)家様しないです。他らない人と様すの俺はあまり家様しないから。							
2	まンラインは発かやっている?	■にはなどのでのためを見た。 単されたられた、日本にような人で保護やってあってたよら? にきたがんやしていった。自然されたがらやも然に、 単の時ももいってき。 単の時ももいってき。 単の時もないでは、 目のもので、 にはたからったからし、 にかられた。 にはためには、 したので、 したの したので、 したので、 したの つ つ つ つ つ つ つ つ つ つ つ つ つ つ つ つ つ つ つ	11単語のシインスクレンカインスク に見たしていていていていたいで、「ひゃん」、ひゃんし、それの にしたい、日本目を見たしていていたいで、単本的というかん。このようか にしたい、日本目を見たしていたいで、一本的についたんであります。 日本についたいで、日本についたいで、「日本」の、日本についたんであります。 日本についたいで、日本についたいで、日本についたいで、日本 日本についたいで、日本についたいで、日本についたいで、日本 日本についたいで、日本についたいで、日本についたい、日本 日本についたいで、日本についたいで、日本についたい、日本 日本についたいで、日本についたいで、日本についたい、日本 日本についたいで、日本についたい、日本についたい、日本 日本についたいで、日本についたい、日本についたい、日本 日本についたいで、日本についたい、日本についたい、日本 日本についたいで、日本についたい、日本につい、日本についたい、日本についたい、日本についたい、日本についたい、日本についたい、日本についたい、日本につい、日本についたい、	5は機種的に基す。 Tはお向なんであるたの方を見つめるこ とが多くなが回答することが多かった。						
	Y-LEBLEVERY	に関節サームはそれが、単数的なサームはそれなに進えていない。 単型によれー書がなか。 11回想で使なっ? 11回想で使なっ? 11回想で使なっ? 11回想ではないないない 単型(一人でないないないないないないないないないないないないないないないないないないない	※3に高速算用しなかったがが部署している。							
		Questions to the out	ards.							
	中創	ca.	6.00							
	3 8	2016年4月25日生まれ 日本	2016年3月20日生まれ	5ヶ月違いだが、学年が違う						
3	どこに住んでいるか?	日本/川崎、横浜	日本 日本/都内							
4	43	843	日本語 実話週1回過っていたがほとんど意味がないと思い、現在は通5でオンライ ン美会話を毎日20分やっている。							
5	他の書語について	英余期は書っていない。	語学は裏語のみ 登い事はは優巻堂が書け、くもんは進2回道語・算数、和太易も中っている。 前行ってないた真常意の裏各先えだかっていて、本人が開始が思いて、行っ 知ってなったが沿くに和太易希望がたまたまあってそこに通ってい る。							
	お子様が外国語もしくは自分とは違う背景の子どもたちと 触れたり知る機会ほどのようなもので、どれくらいある かっ(編本、ビデオ教材など)	¢1.	他の文化のお子さんと交流する機会はない							
7	27種の簡単について(再発明、件交的など)	の一面目的ななるとシーダーシックを発展したながらない。から違っていく低 一番目的ななる品はすなお目的のションスとしてはす 単数にからいで、していていない、低い、ためからいな感に、 参加にからいで、していていない、低い、ためからいな感に、 参加にかられていたない、低い、たまから、などの、 かられていたい、 かられていたいで、 かられていたいで、 かられていたいで、 かられていたいで、 かられていたいで、 かられていたいで、 かられていたいで、 かられていたいで、 かられていたいで、 かられていたいで、 かられていたいで、 かられていたいで、	179イベス、の見し、ごからすごあれらってと言われたらのとことが 多い、 事例に関連とためおりしたい? 1765とジェネは、一般下れば飲が出たらっているし、さっぱりしているう グランジェネなは、一般下れば飲が出たらっているし、さっぱりしているう グロードの「「「「「」」」」」」」 その「」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」							
	業務対差して進んでいる☆ ?	く回答ので見ないたらのは電気回路を組み立てもキット 1月または、 第月後のとは第名なられた。 日本のとは第名ないのからよとお述やてたを選んたら気寒にはまった。私 ほどのからことができた。 ほどのからことがならい。 目前にからことがならい。 日本のからいことがなら、一人で、1時だらいかかったけどの。 電子のからまたが。 日本のからからた 日本のからからた に	いたごになるためにたない、ゲームが特徴、単語があれてはなかられた。 から、自然れて有いたののがクラインでした。 第二ゲームにもいなどない目的がごあし、そやっている。							
100	How often does your child use a computer, tablet or energeoree? お子様の書段のパソコンの使用編定(オ ンライン教室の経験など)	KUスマホやQuad扱うのがすき。googie earthを見たり、両面レーダーを見た リ、 毎週1時間は決めているか? KU大体30分くらいで私から声かける。	¥19ゲームの値度は毎日1時間まで、30分で区切ってやっている。デバイス はSeitute。							
10	How often do you (guardians) use a computer, tablet or smartphones?	D.年日は2-0732メイラン、土目は王マホ、集体などを知っている。 だり書かないる温泉を大学の通知。ていてびっくいし、私もスマホはよび使う。 パジコンは中音っていない、今はBookEphoneを使ってる。スマホは4時間で GAVEと思う。	1)PCE性事でよびき、VRFキャルを発言して使うしいろんなクールPCET ドルを、専選の人たちが考えていたので特に当したいたちゃん。 と一部にうちうろんている。今後VRや音智交際が当たり新になったらと思い、選ばせたりしている。							

Figure D.1 Pre-Test Interview

No			Questions	Ts family (2022/65 12:00PM (のご自宅共有スペース)	мемо				
				Questions to T					
	(Tに向けた質)	問)何が一番3	楽しかった?	センスター作らのが楽しかった。 筆者 TS くんと高いくたち てごうたう 筆者 TS くんと高いくたち てごうたう 事者 とびやいスターチー 単身を行った なんでかな ? TI べいみ 街をんくん、天きいし、優そうだったから。					
				Questions to R for each ativity (Activity 1-5)					
,	Activity 1	T0_01	なぜ周りのものを探えなかったか?説明書が分かりづら かったか?(Tから虫めがねの使い方を聞かれてる)	どうすればいいのか想んがだどかからなかった、イメージが進かなかった。サンプル通復が1つでもあると分かりやすかっ た。気がおわしついても同様、そそそものイメージだけななかった。 者もキットのことを言っていたのであれば、それもイラストー発急れば分からからあった方がに以い。					
2	2	T1_01	どのパーツのことだった?足? 14:30_このパーツもう一個ない	17日もそう、なかった。 筆者)−必念創2つずつ入れていた。 代見つけられなかったのかもしれない					
3		T1_01	1時間かかった?	大体動画の時間と一緒	動価が20分弱なので実際1時間はか				
4	Activity 2	T1_01	ソバーブラレイク、どこから?	T) (ヒント)ないよ、急に思いついた					
6	5	T2_01	あまりこういう言葉は親しみがない? 2:18_性格って? 5:10 世方って?	そういう場面があまりなかった。世格は聞いたことが人に伝える経験がなかったからどうしたらいいのか分からなかったの だと思う。					
7		T2_01	はっぱを書かなかった理由	(他が具体的すぎて?と聞いたところ)そうかも、大半がTが好きなものだった。					
9	Activity 3	アンケート	Activity3の薬足度はなぜ3?	アクティビティの内容自体というよりはminoがいらいちの操作にストレスがかかっていた。字を動かそうとしたらイラストが 動く、みたいな、だから内容自体の満足度ではなくminoの使い勝手の話。					
10		T3_01	カタカタもひらがなも全部読める? 250_ここにパナナって書いてある	ひらがなは金額、カタカナはちょっと T1トだけ!					
-11	1	T3_01	3.52_運べるもの具体的に出てくる、想像力量か (量いビールを運べる、など)	あれも自分に重ね合わせただけ。	Sくんもモンスターの設定が全員小学生 だった。(今年小学1年生になったばか り) →モンスターを通して相手のことも知れ				
15	Activity 4	アンケート	他のお子さんに言及していたか?のアンケートで全部い いえ、になっているが、なぜいいえにしたのか?言及して いた(3くんも見らんだ)とか。16分すぎに言及。最後の方 も気遣いを見せていた。我してあげる、とか)	まだキャンパスがまっしろだったからSCんについては触れなかった。 (宮良していた場面について聞くと)それはあったね。					
16		アンケート	なぜ満足度が3?	質問No9のActivity3と同様、miroの使い勝手の話。					
	Activity 5			※Activity5実施書後に本インタビュー実施したため事前に用意した質問なし					
				Questions to T for the entire MuMo activity					
1	英語もキットやn 全体の満足度に 今回知らないお	iiroboardiに書き ついて教えてく 子様と遊んだこ	いれていたが、客及したり扱もうとしたりしていたか? ださい。 とに対する保護者の管様のご意見をお聞かせください。	特になかった mixの用り込みの改善意味はたくさんあったのたな、と、今後用り込むのだらうけど聞かいところでやりたいことができな い、それた様々に満足度を下げていた。内容は肌のところで気持ちが落ちちゃう。 mixのよの取得が文字で来ていたけだ。一瞬にやっている感を出すんだったら相手の取道、みたいなのもアップロードする あなのかないかなく思った。					
4	全体を通し色や 軍で使うのに適 ・キット ・miroboard ・VRミュージア1	デザイン、ツー) したデザインに	んや文字の大ききは扱いやすいものになっていましたか? なっていますか?	(全部変換用にアップローぞれないな範囲、表示のも見たかという質用に比い)場合い変わかな ちらんれた差されればならしたっかれれんと行うけどグンボールをなりまだったから、らうシェザダインできたんだら ないめな、といれニージアムは最かった。 (モンスクモーインにいて質問すると)が豊かだんどん出てくる予算だといいのかもしれないけど使いづらいビースも あったと思う、(ビースを出しなから)					
5	お子様は… お友達と一緒に お友達と同じ目 お友達について	道んでいること 唐を達成したこ もっと知りたい。	がわかっている様子でしたか? とに対して、楽しんでいる様子でしたか? もっと遊びたいと思っている様子でしたか?	Sくんと思えている感覚に進かったと思う。リアルタイム感が薄くなっちゃったからというのもあると思う。Sくんに対する資 単注をこまで出なかったから。					
0	全体を通してより	いったことを数月	して下きい。	VRがよかったと思う、こういう空間は子どもたちが好き、創作活動もこういう空間でできたらいいんじゃないか。					
7	余体を通して気	になることやや	りづらかったこと、こうしたらいい、などがあれば教えて下さ	(各項目で色々言ってくださったので直接の質問は省略。)					

Post-test Interview-R

Figure D.2 Post-Test Interview with R

Post-test Interview-Y

No			Questions	S's family (2022/6/2 7:00PM/#オンラインモーティング)						
				Questions to S						
1	(第二時) 行力調 時	}何 ☆ (一番≵	ι.β-γλ.7	(3) シンターボリィ そういえば、情報能に提供にすっとまっているマイクラのをつねがいたけどあら何なんだろう? 筆利され マイクラびは、と思った。 書 利力に マイクラびは、と思った。 書 割したズイ マクラびなんださい? 3) つっていてない くなったのできなたから、と考えられる日 筆引き (18年 マンターなったの) と考えられる日 第11日間をからったいうことできる? 3) つっていてない 書 割目のたっていうことである。 第11日前に、「なったのであるたれます。外が多んできやった。本色の羽はなんか 普通にやったらいいかない。 書 割目のたっていうことない。 3) ざいうになる。このでいろんだれます。外が多んできやった。本色の羽はなんか 普通にやったらいいかな。みたいでな。 書 割にたくこのでいろんたれます。外が多んできやった。 書 割にたくこのでいろんたれます。外が多んできやった。 書 割にたくこのでいろんたれます。 第11日前に、「なった」できない。 第11日前に、「ない」 3) これにはばのでので書からかたくにと目着いたらも31つのモンスターができるかんじかなと、ちょっと見えないけど下に白いの(ロ)もあるよ。 書 割にたくることにできったが、 書 割にたくることしたってきまった。 3) 差したま。 第11日前に、「なっていて書 かられた」、「なった」、「ひられってくれたらんね。 3) ぶたいたいできった。 3) 差したま。 第11日前に、「なった」、「なっていた」、「なった」、「なっていたらんね。 3) ぶたいたいたいたいたいたいたいたいたいたいたいたいたいたいたいたいたいたいたい						
				Questions to Y for each ativity (Activity 1-5)						
1	Activity 1	51_01	手紙は理解している様子だったか?設定が少し難しかっ たか?	相撲すんなり、そんなに難しいとは思っていなかった。すぐに動いてどれにしようかほし回っていた。						
2	S1_02		箱ティッシュはどう探した?	結構すぐ最ティッシュだった、見本にある靴というよりは工作のイメージ。						
3		51_02	パーツの数や大きさは適切だったか?							
4	1	S1_03	なぜ虫のがねにはまった?虫のがねを使って捜索はしな かったか?	」 すいつてあめいつものかおさ、伴って近へもものか好き、モノ目体が魅力的たったと思う、待ちなからうろうろ見見!とやっていた。気に入っていたと思う。						
5		\$1_03	やはりテーブは援助がないとまだ難しい?	丸めて貼る、という作業が多分ちょっと苦手。						
7		全体 カメラに向かってしゃべっていた。Youtuberなどの		ダア YouAuberの影響、ヒカキンの影響だと思う。では今からやっていきたいと思いまーすみたいなのも。						
8	Activity 2	+1	minoboard は今日初めて? アップロードする際など、何か手こずったこと(アンケート で(スムーズ)にできなかった」とあるが、具体的にどのあ たりか?)	和めて、こちも物の問題で書面からなフレットでやればよめった。スマル、タブレット、クロントギャットリタルリして、クブレットはやイレジ持っていて使えなかっ 1. ご が見時時ではついた。読まであらなし、、一選の流れをスムーズにやる必要が多いたと思う、アルクダによがっていた園園を向このの月ぞえへの面 面を受てあた、タブレットでできるのかと思った。						
9		\$2_01	「のうりょく」という文字は自分で読んだ? (1:46あたり)	そうですね、ひらがなは読める。						
10		\$2_01	想像力量か(まゆげから空気が入ってくるなど)、お話づく りは書段から学校とかでやっている?	く全然しないから意外だった。するすると出てきたんで、						
11	Activity 3	\$3_01	手にマイクを当てるのはどこからの影響?	インタビューのイメージャテレビかな?						
12	Activity 4	+	•	※まだこの時点で範囲が搭納されていなかったため、別に向けてのインタビューの際に詳しく話を聞いた						
13	Activity 5	\$5_01	チケットのORからではなく、LINEで送ったURLから飛ん だ?	QRコードで読んで、sofariで出てきたURLをコピベして、メールで送って、パフコンから入る、という読れ、そういう意味ではタブレットがやはりよかった。螢VRチャットやってるからできるけど、タブレットの方がよかったかも。						
14	1 3	552.98	VREATSTALLAGOL操作的に何か大変だったこと お母さんに「見て!」と言っている動画、参見したのを非	WRFサウトと同じなので高本別に同じ。 私におわたんがけど、ときわれた、あとなくの句のまつれはなくの句にの…んとれ言ってた。						
15			有したかった?VREュージアムで一番英味を持っていた ところは?							
				Questions to Y for the entire MuMo ativity						
1	英語もキットやmi	roboardic	書かれていたが、言及したり読もうとしたりしていたか?	触れなかった、もうちょっと進んでれば、これ何て書いてあるのとこちらから開けたかもしれない。						
2	VRチャットについ	てもう少しお	iLK,	VRチャットという世界 まだ日本語になっていたいやつで実践でたくさん語」かけられる						
3	全体の美足度に	ついて数えて	ccreau.	工作キット、ちゃんと作ってあって、厚厳で、だから作るのが楽しそうだった。ここに起ろうとか、患も混んでいた。あそこまできっちり作っていただいているとあとは 知ったりとか作ることに集中できるのでよかったなと、						
4	今回知らないおう	F種と遭んだ	ことに対する保護者の皆様のご意見をお聞かせください。	あまり半人にその認識がなかった。もっと称に言っておけばよかった。 質問コーナーはちゃんと相手を認識していた。例にあった我に反応していた。この発想はない、みたいな。						
5	お子様は お友達と一緒にま お友達と同じ目標 お友達についても	きんでいるこ 夏を達成した しっと触りたし	とがわかっている様子でしたか? ことに対して、楽しんでいる様子でしたか? い、もっと遊びたいと思っている様子でしたか?	単初にお名前と物画でシェアしていれば、事前に言っといてもらえるともっと認識できたらだろうなと思う。						
6	xrifを通しビやす か? 家で使うのに適し ・キット ・miroboard	・サイン、ウ・ たデザイン	ール・メネッスをさは使いやすいものになっていました こなっていますか?	期サージャネスを用っていたいによってから、ちゃんど行ちのていて大学期からいだった。 motocomはすその行びだしんどからのなりプレットはなんと目的に立ちゃいけなかったのかなと、私大制々が増しかった、VRチャットやっていたからナチュラ ルに受け入れられていた。あれやっていなかったらもっとすごいとなっていたかも、でも用しているのは楽しそうだった。新しい場発みたいな悪しで、						
	·VRE1-974		1.3 mm							
7	生体を通してよか	-212-268	IX C P251	工作を進んでするタイノでもない、ああいうふうに色々セットしてもらえると思外と色々考えられるんだなとわかってすごいよかった。ゼロベースだとなかなかそ、 で生み出していくタイプでもないので目があったり、虫めがねがあったりとかすると作ろうと思うみたい、動作意味が刺激されたんだと思う。						
a	全体を通して気に さい。	なることやり	やりづらかったこと、こうしたらいい、などがあれば教えて下	下 事前に名前と勧満とか写真をいただけると、もう少し相手のことを認識できたのかなど。						

Figure D.3 Post-Test Interview with Y